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SUMMARY

Haslar Gunboeat Yard is a unique naval site at Gosport, Hampshire. [t cperated as a yard
for the housing and repair of British gunboats between 1856 and 1906. From this time, the
yard has retained its associatiocn with coastal craft, notably as a site for HMS Hornet from
1912-1973.

The site comprises a series of original iron sheds for housing the gunboats, part of the
traverser system used for their movement and a collection of ancillary buildings relating to
repair, maintenance and power provision both for the gunboat yard and the Royal Naval
Hospital, Haslar on the opposite side of Haslar Road. The site alsc has twe brick structures,
designed by William Scamp, for use as a guard house and police barracks. Most of the
buildings are at present unused, although some equipment is still in situ as of November
2013. The guard house, police barracks, workshops, boiler house and engine room are all
on the Heritage at Risk Register. Most of the structures on site were constructed between
1856 and 1870, with the exception of a large iron shed built in the 1950s.

Haslar Gunboat Yard lies within the Haslar Conservaticn Area. The guardhouses and
boat sheds are listed at Grade Il and scheduled and the remaining brick structures,
contemporary to the sheds, are curtilage listed. The significance of Haslar Gunboat Yard
lies in its association with iron technology through the traverser system designed and used
especially for the purpose of moving gunbeats and for its historic significance as the only
sunboat vard to have been built by the British Navy.
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INTRODUCTION

This repert on Haslar Gunboat Yard has been prepared as part of a wider project
being undertaken by the English Heritage Assessment team on the military settlement
of Gosport. [t is intended to help inform the ongeing management of change at this
impertant site.

The report presents the findings of an assessment visit undertaken in November 2013
by members of the English Heritage Assessment team (West). A rapid assessment of
the surviving buildings on the site was undertaken, along with a photographic record
held by the English Heritage Archive. This visual assessment has been supplemented by
a detailed assessment of documentary archive material relating to the site. This includes
earlier reports on the site, particularly those of Jonathan Coad and Ocna Hickson. The
Portal archive at the Hampshire Record Office (hereafter abbreviated HRO) has been
consulted. [n addition Admiralty records from the National Archives (TNA) have been
consulted as well as primary documents held at the National Maritime Museum {(NMM)
and English Heritage Archive (EHA). A full list of consulted works may be found at the
end of this report.

Preliminary sections of the report examine the landscape setting and histerical
development of Haslar Gunbeat Yard. The central section comprises detailed
descriptions of the principal buildings grouped in chronolecgical crder. The report
concludes with a summary of the architectural and historical significance of the site.
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HISTORICAL DEVELOPMENT

The history of specialist construction for the Royal Navy began in Portsmeuth in the
1490s, when the construction of the first dry dock in England was ordered by Henry

VIL! This marked the beginning of a naval enterprise that became the largest and most
powerful in the world. From this time, royal dockyards formed an integral part of Britain's
naval defence system. They provided the ships that were the main system of defence for
the island nation, and were also dlosely connected to Britain's industrial growth: by the
mid 18™-century they were the 'largest industrial enterprise in the world"?

The Portsmeuth region has a long association with naval defence, thanks in part to its
easily defensible natural harbour: A Norman motte and bailey towards the western
side of the Gosport peninsula attests a long history of occupation and awareness of the
defensive characteristics of the area. Portsmeuth had ‘the merits of a good sheltered
harbour, the proximity of the New Forest as a scurce of ships' timber, and a reasonable
communication with London'?

By the end of the |7" century, there were three main naval dockyards in England:
Chatham, Portsmouth and Plymouth. Each port was equipped not conly with facilities

for shipbuilding and maintenance, but also had a number of associated facilities such

as victualling yards, crdnance yards, factories, hospitals and barracks. As a result of

their central role in equipping and serving the Navy, the dockyards became centres for
industry and facilitated many advances in construction processes and the development of
new technologies.

The immense building works that occurred in the three main ports from 1760-1808 were
the result of increased wartime activity and an unprecedented expansion of the Navy.
The cost of such expansions led to debates on the merits of the different ports. The

Carl of Sandwich wrote that Portsmouth was better able tc be secured and defended
than Plymouth and that ‘Portsmouth is more central and happily situated for facilitating a
junction of our ships from Eastward and Westward with a spacious and safe read for the
rendezvous of the whole fleet'?

The Royal Navy was responsible for much of the development and infrastructure of the
Portsmouth area. There were supplementary sites such as the Reoyal Clarence Victualling
Yard and the Haslar Hospital, but the development was focused around the shipbuilding,
repair, maintenance, and storage of the Navy's fleet. This activity occurred largely in

the Portsmouth Dockyard, which sits to the east of the main natural harbour. These
developments meant that Portsmouth was for long one of the most heavily fortified
towns in Europe, the defences entirely due to the importance of the naval base'.” Haslar
Gunboat Yard was developed and constructed solely to be a base for the Navy's gunboat
fleet and act as another facility within the Portsmouth naval complex. 't was due only to
restrictions in space that it was situated away from the central dockyard. Despite this, it
nevertheless functioned as an integral part of the main dockyard (Figure |}.

By the mid-18" century all decisions regarding the Royal Navy, including building works,
were overseen by the Navy Board and a team of core staff including a Surveyor.
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Fgwe | Partermauth Badbaoe m P90 Dotiies w0 e stowe e and gorteded
byt navy ot the drne [THA Wik 4021 1)

Despite the, senor dockyand officers in each yand often gree themeszbees freedom n
running their vards, Samoel Bentham was appointed  Inspector General of Maval Yior ks
i 95, reporting dirgctlhy tothe Admira by Boand, and in the roke began to instiote
changes that would Bber alter how dockoard plinning decsons wene made. He braught
i 2 gt of experts including 2 Civil Archibect, 2 mechanical engineer, and 2 chemist? In
1803, Benthamand his team were gen the new tithes of Tl Architect and Enginger
and transferred under the Mavy Boand . Four years lter, Bentham's owen postion was
abolshed. In 1832, the Mavy Board and the Wictualing Board were abalished and a newr
stroctung with vard superintendents @ oombining of the posts of dockoand oomm esiona e
and PFort Admial) was introduced” By 1837, the Admiralty Works Departmet had been
establehed, under the direction of a Director of Engineering and Archiectural Yo ks,
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The Royal Navy and Steam Power

As the principal naval port, Portsmouth was consistently at the forefront of innovation
and development for the Royal Navy. Industrial innovations in factory manufacturing,
revoluticnary ship building, and applications of steam-power to industry all occurred
here. Arguably the most impertant industrial develcpment to impact upen the Navy was
the advent of steam technelogy.

The Portsmeuth Dockyard, with which Haslar Gunboat Yard was associated, was the
first naval establishment to employ steam-driven machinery in a factory setting. In 1799,
it was used to pump docks and power a saw.? The engine was situated in The Block Mills
and designed by |ames Sadler, Samuel Bentham's chief chemist. Its application to repeated
tasks was identified by Bentham and Brunel, who developed means of applying it to saw
milling” Development of steam power in the Navy halted somewhat from 1815 due in
part to Bentham's departure. By the 1840s, steam works and developments in Navy
yards were beginning tc gain mementum cnce more and the building programme that
subsequently arose rivalled the first spate of dockyard expansion.

By the mid-19th-century steam technclogy was changing the way in which naval warfare
was being conducted, being used for a variety of purpeses including ship propulsion, and
the use of iron not only in building works, but zlso in ship design.'® The first steam factory
was at Woolwich (1839), established for the manufacture and repair of engines for steam
vessels'!! Portsmouth acquired a steam basin in 1843." Iron hulled ships also came into
use during the 1840s and steam power meant that vessels could now be smaller and
manned by fewer men. The first steam vessel to be launched by the Royal Navy was the
Congo in 1816, when steam technology was in its infancy.

Chatham docks underwent the largest steam conversion from [840-1860, vastly
outdoing the conversions at Portsmouth and Haslar? That these developments were
concurrent indicates that the Navy as a whole was embracing this new technology along
with the ‘advent of the iron ship and its attendant machine shops and boiler shops', such
as are found at Haslar Gunboat Yard.” Haslar was not, however, at the forefront of such
developments in steam techneology, although it was equipped with steam power from the
outset.

The Development of Gunboats

The term ‘gunboat’ is most often applied to a class of steam-powered ship, modified
during the Crimean War, for navigating in shallow waters close to shore. The term had,
however, been applied to small vessels prior to the Crimean War. From the 1850s until
the early 20" century, the term gunboat was used of small steam-powered craft with
one gun, although a larger form of gunboat, that was able to held two cannens, was also
developed. Initizlly gunboats were built of timber but by the [870s, composite boeats of
timber and iron were being constructed. By the 20"-century, these vessels were made
entirely of steel.

The British gunboat fleet only truly developed in the 1850s with the Crimean War {1854-
56). Pricr to this, the Navy had only a handful of gunboats that were deployed at various
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ports around the world. Russia and Sweden, however, both had large fleets of gunboeats
and in the Crimean War, this type of vessel proved to be highly effective. At this time the
Royal Navy was directing much of its efforts to the Finnish Straight, where larger vessels
were not of great use as they could not navigate close encugh to shore. The shallow-
drafted, steam-powered gunboats were capable of sailing much cleser te land and were
therefore more flexible in their use than larger ships. Due to the nature of naval warfare
being conducted, gunboats were crdered in large quantities during the 1850s and intc
the 1860s. More gunboats would have been ordered by the Admiralty had it not been
for the sudden end tc the Crimean cenflict in 1856.

The gunboat was a notably British naval develcpment. They were frequently associated
with British naval forces due to their widespread use across the globe, giving rise to the
phrase ‘Send a Gunboat!. Gunboats were, however, alse used by cother countries, (Russia,
Sweden and the United States at least), albeit in lower numbers. Estimates of 1858

assign 28 gunboats to France and 75 to Russia.”” Because their use developed during the
Crimean conflict, the practicalities of storing and maintaining gunboats in Britain does not
seem tc have been considered until 1856. Gunboat storage sheds in Cepenhagen, which
are positioned directly along a watercourse, constructed of wood and separated into
individually contained sheds, are indicative of how other countries chose to house their
small boats when not in use. The Haslar gunboat yard was, as far as records indicate, the
only British yard built especially for the store of gunboats.

Construction and the choice of Haslar

Following the Crimean War, it became apparent that a ready fleet of gun-boats was
required to ensure the safety of the English coast!® Unlike their larger counterparts,
sunboats were too small and toc numercus (¢. 120) for the existing dry docks in naval
ports such as Portsmouth. Dry and wet docks were reserved for larger ships and the
sheer number of gunbeats meant that they were frequently, and, scmetimes literally, left
at sea. Unfortunately their iron parts, which included hulls, engines, and boilers, along
with the frequent use of unseasoned timber, meant that storage afloat was not practical.”
The solution was to construct a separate yard where such vessels could be stored and
repaired cn dry land, potentially for long periods of time, whilst remaining seaworthy and
ready for action.

Although a number of sites were considered for the Navy's first gunboat yard, including
sites at Chatham Dockyard, Royal William Victualling Yard at Stonehouse, Plymouth, and
eyham Yard at Devenport Dockyard, the final decision rested on Haslar'® Haslar had a
number of natural features that made it well suited to such a yard: it was situated within
the natural Portsmouth basin meaning it was easily defensible, it was also situated in
close proximity to the larger Portsmouth dockyard, a main base for the rest of the fleet
and the operational base of the gunboats.”” The final site chosen at Haslar was to the
north of the hospital, bordering Haslar Creek. The waterfront access along the northern
boundary was also an asset of the site as this provided for easier launching of vessels at
high tide. It was also seen as preferable to the other proposed site to the east of the
Hospital as the latter was not designated for naval use.®
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Maps from the earky ninsteanth century shovar that the ste was ondeveloped farmland
priar o the Mavy's leasshald (Figure £). The speed wath which the vard was constrocted
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Hevargnoer, the sl byoot has changed nebtvabe tthe sinoe its constroction and all the
principal featunes have remained in sto.

Fguee 2 Hosloe Penmsola m (BS0 [THA Wik 440281

The Travarsar System

The bigpest chalkenge in the ward's constroction was providing 2 mea by owchich boats
could b easihy haokd up and stoned; and equally, remoeed from stomge for active
garvicg in A timely fashion. The solotion was 3 traverser system, complete with slips, that
allorangd brsats ter b haoked up and mewed paallel o the weaterling before being loed in
a storage shed.

The first record of attribution for the design of the traverser & in the Harmasiine
Tetegant ond Soesey Cheoridle of Ootaber 25 1856, which credits Colonel Greane, the
then Director of Yworks, and M Seamip, the then Deputy Director of Wor ks,

The hauling-uf ship at Haslar for scews gun-boats & a pew and peoalar
adaptation of mechanical art 1o maritime matters. These boats, instead
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of, as on the old plan with men of war, being laid up in ordinary

up Portchester Lake, &c., will be laid up in ordinary on dry ground,

and under sheltering roofs of corrugated iron, on a capacious site,
surrounded by a well-built brick wall. That site is a little above Haslar-
bridge and directly opposite the hcuses at the extreme upper end of
High-street, Gosport. The works are of a very considerable magnitude,
and no less than five contractors, each amongst the most eminent in
their respective branches of trade, are engaged upon them. — Thus,
the excavaticn of land and the brickwork is entrusted to Messrs. Rigby,
of London; the iren roofing to Messrs. Grissell, of Londen; the supply
of iron rails for the lines of railways required to traverse the boats
along, to Messrs. Fox and Henderson; the removal of the mud at the
approaches to the slip in Haslar lake is being done by Messrs. E Smith
and Co.; and the construction of the cradles on which the vessels are
to be conveyed from the water to their berths or resting places, is
confided to the well-known Mr White, jun., of Portsmouth, who has
made himself sc very distinguished in the constructicn of slip-ways. In
addition to all these firms, Government has contributed its share to the
works by supplying the sleepers on which the rails rest; they consist of
the old timbers of men-of-war recently broken up. Colonel Greene,
Admiralty Director of Works, and Mr Scamp, Deputy Director, are
the originators and designers of this slip-way, and Mr. Macdonnell is the
resident Superintending Engineer.

From its novelty there is scme difficulty, at least to an unprofessional
writer, in describing the slip-way well. On visiting it a few days since, we
were struck with the extent of the work and the great progress made
within the short period of time that has elapsed since we intimated that
it was in contemplation. We can only say that, running from low water
mark in Haslar-lake, there has been censtructed a treble line of railway,
about 130 feet in length. It proceeds from the water that distance in a
straight line, and then reaches, at right angles, a “traversing” line of rails,
of which there are seven separate lines. The “traversing” line is 120
feet wide and, at present, 1,400 feet long; but it may be extended to as
greater a length as may be requisite. Running down to this “traversing”
line are the berths in which the gun-boats are to be placed. At present
45 of these berths are being constructed; but this is only an instalment
of the full number. The length of each berth is 115 feet by 30 feet.
They are all covered by corrugated iron reefs, which are supported

by iron columns and stanchions of the height of 18 feet. The columns
are hollow, and by them the rain that may ccllect on the roofs will

be drained off. Every ten of these berths are separated from the
remainder by a stout brick wall, in order that in the event of fire it may
not involve the whale fleet in destructicn. A line of rails is laid down in
each berth, on which to draw the vessel on its “cradle” up, but as soon
as they are up they will be supported in position in a way that will allow
of the cradle being removed for further use.

The more difficult part now remains of explaining the mede by which
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the boats are to be drawn up to their berths. On the shert line, which
is on an incling, running from the water, will be a cradle, and upon this
a second cne, and at high water they will be lowered together under
the gun-boat, and thus, when everything is secure, the whele will be
drawn up by steam-power to the "traversing” line of rails. Here will be
another cradle laying across and running on the whole seven lines of
rails; upen this cradle the boat will be drawn, still fixed to the upper of
the two first-named cradles — then cradle No. 3 will be propelled by a
locomotive up the seven lines of rails, going broadside on, till it arrives
at the berth destined for the beat it carries. By means of windlasses the
boat, not vet released from cradle No. 2, will be drawn into its berth,
and then when the vessel has been fixed in that manner, the last-
named cradle will be removed and the same process will begin again
with ancther boat.

The first boat drawn up will be on the I7th of November, and it will be
an interesting event.”

A conflicting report in the Mechanics’ Magazine of January 3 1857, credits a Mr White,

shipbuilder, as the author of the original concept, with the design later werked out |
conjunction with Mr Scamp.?? It is possible that this actually refers to the design and
construction of the cradles rather than the system as a whole.

OUR GUNBCAT AND MORTAR-BOAT FLOTILLA

As the relations of Great Britain with foreign powers have been
neither very dose nor very cordial since the recent war, much of the
belligerent spirit evoked by it has doubtless continued to the present—
sufficient, at least, to assure us that many will learn with interest what
has been done, and is being dene, with that vast and costly flotilla of
light war craft, the mere menace of which did much towards bringing
us a speedy peace.
This flotilla—every vessel of which is of 2 very light draught of waten,
and therefore suitable to be applied to numerous services to which the
whole of our navy, before the war, was inapplicable—may be said to
consist of five classes of vessels, namely, despatch, or, more properly,
sun-vessels, gun-boats, mortar-vessels, mortar-floats, and floating
batteries, of which all but the mortar-vessels and mortar-floats are
propelled by steam. The gun-vessels, gunboats, and mortar-vessels
are of wood; the mortar-floats of iron; the fleating batteries, some of
woed and some of iron, and, in all cases, cased with iron plates of iv ins.
thickness. It is evident that craft like the gun-vessels and gun-boats—
light, swift, commodious, well-armed, easily handled, independent of
wind and tide, and capable of acting separately or in concert—will
always be useful in the British Navy, which has at times to attack or
menace cn the shores of almest every sea, either in waging war, or
enforcing treaties, or protecting the Queen's subjects, or capturing
slave traders, or exploring barbarous countries. A considerable number
of these vessels is accordingly at present employed in the Black Sea,
the West Indies, China, and elsewhere; and in all probability there will
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always be many of them in commissicn and on active service. ‘The
great bulk of them, however, and the whole of the mortar-vessels and
floats will have tc be otherwise dealt with. A wooden vessel, built in
haste, of green timber, put together roughly, and carelessly

caulked, is liable, if unattended to, to be speedily deveured by dry rot.
And this is precisely the case with these vessels, which were built with
comparatively little regard to anything but the time named for their
completion. However honourable their builders, and however faithful
the dockyard cfficers who inspected their construction, may have
been, the rapidity with which great numbers of them were prepared
was such, that unseascned timber and careless workmanship must
necessarily have been resorted to. The examination of many of them in
dock has, indeed, shown this opinion to be true. These circumstances
being understood by the Admiralty, it became highly desirable that
means should be provided for removing these vessels from the water,
in order that planks might be taken out here and there, and other
contrivances adopted for the double purpose of seascning their
timbers, &, and of affording opportunities for the necessary inspection
and repairs. It was alsc felt to be advisable that the iron vessels should
likewise be removed from the water, as they could be preserved from
wear and rust much better out of it than in it.

Now to effect these objects by the use of the cordinary dry docks of
our dockyards, was altogether out of the question, because they would
not contain a tithe of the small craft we now have in cur Navy, and are
all incessantly required for the construction and repairs of the larger
vessels, Hence arose a difficulty to which many turned their attention,
and, among others, Mr. Thomas White, shipbuilder, of Portsmouth,
who for years has both used, and constructed for the use of others,

a patent arrangement of hauling-up slip, by means of which vessels,
either large or small, may be drawn out of the water with great facility,
for fitment, repair, or stowage. It cccurred to Mr. White that, under
the circumstances of the case, it would be very convenient to stow
the gun and moertar vessels in parallel tiers, side by side, and tc place
any number of them thus, by means of one principal slip-way, up which
the whole might be successively drawn, and frem which they might

be removed on lateral rails to front their respective stalls, into which
they could then be taken. This plan was submitted to the Admiralty,
who approved of it, and committed the execution of it to Mn W.
Scamp, Deputy Director of Engineering and Architectural Works,
Somerset Heuse. This gentleman interested himself warmly in the
undertaking, facilitated it *by many suggestions and improvements,
and, in conjuncticn with Mr. White, has carried the system out very
successfully.

A tract of land at Haslar, near Gosport, bordering on Haslar Creek,
was selected to receive 200 vessels, and the necessary arrangements
were proceeded with. The plate at the commencement of this Number
represents the details adopted. The first vessel {the Gnat) was hauled

© ENGLISH HERITAGE 9 15-2014



up on the 25th of November last, and has been followed by numerous
others. In raising a vessel, she is first drawn upon a slip composed of
two parts, of which the under part is a carriage running on wheels
along rails laid on the principal slip-way, and the upper a carriage
furnished with wheels to run on rails laid cn the under carriage. This
under carriage is tapered, or diminished in depth at its fore end, so
that the upper surface of it may lie parallel tc the surface of the lateral
ways, and of the sheds or stalls. When the vessel is grounded upon
the slip, and supperted by wedges cor blocks, placed under it by means
which it is unnecessary to describe here, the slip is drawn up the

ways by tackles, &c., worked by a fixed steam engine of sixteen horse
power. On its arriving at the upper end of the principal or trunk slip-
way, the hauling ropes are connected to the upper carriage, on which
the vessel immediately rests, and this carriage is then drawn forward
along the rails on the lower carriage, and is received upcn rails laid on
a lateral transporting table—the ends of the rails on the lower carriage
and on the transporting table corresponding with each other. The
traversing table, with the vessel upon it, is then drawn away laterally
by a small locomotive steam engine, until it is brought in frent of the
stall appropriated to it. The upper carriage is then again drawn forward
off the transporting table, by tackle from the fixed engine, and bears
the vessel to its position in the stall. The vessel is now blecked up, and
freed from the carriage, which is then run back on to the traversing
table, and borne by it to the lower carriage of the slip, on which it is
received, and with which it lowered to receive ancther vessel. It will

be evident that by employing an increased number of transporting
carriages and tables, the time expended in raising a number of vessels
may be much reduced.

The improved system of hauling up and stowing vessels will,
without doubt, come into very general use, both at home and abroad.
't has, in many instances, great advantages over the practice of dry-
docking, particularly in the case of paddle-wheel steamers, the paddle-
boxes of which are great impediments to the decking of such
vessels. Besides this, merchant ships are now built of such a length
that it is becoming impossible to place them two or three on end
upen aslip for repairs, as was formerly done. In the event of war, our
hundreds of small war craft could not possibly be accommodated in
the existing docks, the demand for which, for the recepticn of large
ships, is continually increasing. In many foreign ports, particularly in
harbeurs where there is but little or no tidal change, the arrangement
will become indispensable. Mr. White will, therefore, we hope, receive
ere long a suitable reward for his labours in extending the employment
of hauling up slips.

Ultimately, when the gun and mortar-vessels are sufficiently
seasoned and again completed, it would be desirable, we think, to fully
fit them for sea, making them their own storehouses, so as to be ready
for active service at the shortest possible notice—an arrangement
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which weould certainh be atbended with marm advantages.

Wyith the floating-batteres but htthe more can, we appehend, be
diene than to have the best possible attention geen them afioat.

Ol af thaim might, horesewar, be mrade o tarpet of, a5 was neeenth
designed, wath great adwvantage; for as the Times remarks, that & the
anly efficent method we have of testing their fitness for the semvice e
which thesy ang intend ad 22

W illiim Sesamipe, the Deputy Director of Engineerimg and Anchibectoral Yorks, had
exhibited 2 model for 2 hauling-up yard at the Great Exhibition in 18512 The madel
wars Toran unsucressful |849 scheme designed to haul ashare the largest warships 23

It & highly probabhe that this was the basi for the desgn employed at Haslar | s
bezlienved that Seamp's designs for the system ariginated in U5 military use and inraikeay
technolagy 2

A earher traverser sestem, poosibbe the first in Britain, was ozed i the Sedindon Baiby
Wylorks and shoess similarities with the design employed at Haslar (Figune 3). 1w
conceved by Danel Goodh, appointed by Brunel 2s the superintendent of bosmotie
engines in 1837, and has o comtroction date of (842, Unlike the traverser at Hashr, the
Swandon traverser opeated in g sonken pt down the moddle, interior keagth of 2 ne par
and storage shed . Initally the system was powened by band, but it was Brer oomerted
for steam poseer with 2 shallwser pit? It was dooble tracked and used for maving
engines between bays and delbering them to tracks at the parthern end of the shed 2
The whole System was 290 Eet by 50 feet, making it of comparable siz with that at
Has b ®

troverseem use) ERA BE PG ESD)
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Willizm Scamp was a self taught architect who, in 1837, became assistant engineer at
Woolwich Dockyard. He began his naval career in Malta, where he was responsible
for the design and construction of a large number of buildings, including the bakery.
His success in this post meant that upan his return to England, he was made Deputy
Crirector of Engineering and Architectural YWorks to Colonel G T Greene. In this role
he oversaw a number of developments within the English ports, not least of which at
Portsmouth, Greene wrote:

The present Admiralty establishments at Malta, Gibraltar and Bermuda,
are almost entirely projected by him. Deptford, YWoolwich, Sheerness,
Portsmouth and Pembroke cwe many of their best buildings to his
professional talent. Keyham is almost entirely his own, from first to
last. ™

DCrespite popular thearies that |sambard Kingdom Brunel was the designer, there is no
evidence to suggest his invalvement, He was, however, invalved in the adaptation of
steam power for factory use on the main Portsmouth site so was certainly working in
the Portsmouth area at the appropriate time. [t may have been his involvement in the
area in general that has led to his association with the gunboat vard.

An image published in the Mechanics’ Magazine of 1857 shows how the traverser system
operated. {Figure 4)* The design was comprised of a slip laid with tracks extending into
the water. This allowed the boats to be attached to their crade at the water's edge. The
boats were then hauled up onto land by means of a steam winch, Once at the top of the
slip, the cradle (and ship) were conveyed onto the traverser, a series of rails sunk below
the level of the sheds that ran parallel to the shed openings. A steam-powered engine,

=
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Figure 4. Fatent Heaving-Up Slips’ at Haslar Gunboat Yard (Mechanics' Magazine, 3 January,
1857}
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Figure 5. Extension of transverse slipway in 1857 (EHA MD 95/6490)

nicknamed ‘The Elephant’ and supplied by Messers Humphrys and Tenirant of Deptford,
ran back and forth delivering boats to their shed opening where they were then hauled
into sheds for storage, repair cr maintenance. For ease, they remained on their cradle
throughout the process.

The first attempt at hauling and storing a gunboat at Haslar occurred on 25 November
1856, just five months after the Navy had approved the choice of site. The hauling up

of the Gnat was not entirely successful as the machinery was not powerful encugh to
haul the ship all the way up. Modifications were made and the first successful attempt
was completed in January 185772 The Flephant itself was officially trizlled on 16 February
|858.% The extensions to the traverser system in 1857 may have been associated with
this {Figure 5).

A newspaper account of 1859, when modifications were made to the system, details how
it operated and indicates that the Elephant was attached to the south west corner of

the platform behind the steam engine. A hydrant was installed on the platform as a fire
precaution. It was powered by steam from the steam lecomotive, rather than frem the
steam engine in the repair yard behind the sheds.

An experimental launch, to test the efficacy cf the alteraticns recently
made in the gunboat slip-way at Haslar, was effected on Wednesday
morning last, in the presence of Admiral Sir B. Walker, Bart,, KC.B,,
surveyor of the navy; Admiral Sir George Seymeur, G.C.B., K.C.B,

Commander-in-Chief.: Commander Gardiner, of the Hannibal;

© ENGLISH HERITAGE 15-2014



Lieutenant Silver, Mr. Scamp, Mr. Miller, Mr. Woods, &c., &c.

The boat selected for the launch was the Cherokee, one of those of
60 herse-power, then occupying the twentieth berth in the shed — that
is, commencing from the eastern end. As many of our readers have
not visited these slipways we here add, for the purpose of making the
account as intelligible as possible, that the whole of the vessels rest on
blocks of wood and are shered up in the ordinary way on beth sides
by pieces of timber, ten yards width being the allotted space for each
vessel: and that the preparations for the launch were effected in the
following manner: - The Cherokee, by the intreduction of six small
hydraulic presses, placed at irregular distances beneath her keel, was
forced from her recumbent position and raised a sufficient height to
allow of the cradle being placed underneath her: to effect this three
lines of movable iron rails were placed on each side of her, and the
locomotive then drew the huge platform cppesite to the vessel. This
platform (on which rests the cradle, formed of heavy balks of timber
faced with iron, into which wedges are countersunk, each wedge
being fitted with a block and “fall,”) is propelled over fourteen lines of
permanently fixed iron rails, and travels on 8 perpendicular wheels to
each line; down the centre of the platform there works an “endless
screw,” about 35 vards in length, of a very fine thread. At the bottom
of the cradle are the scientific appliances which attach to the screw: on
the strength and uniform working of these intricate juncticns mainly
depends the success of the removal of the boat from the shed and
the ultimate launching. A small trunk engine, from the manufactory

of Messrs. Humphreys, Tennent, and Dykes, of London, performs

the whole of this portion of the work, in addition to which it gives
valuable assistance to the locomotive when drawing the laden cradle.
This engine is placed at the south-western corner cf the platform, and
is supplied with steam from the locomotive. The cradle having been
taken to its position opposite to the boat is quickly transferred on

to the line of rails underneath her, after which she is wedged up, and
proncunced to be all ready.

We now proceed to give in detail an account of the removal of the
boat from the shed, and the launch as performed cn Wednesday
morning, and also the time occupied. Sir Baldwin Walker, with Sir
George Seymour, Commander Gardiner, and Lieut. Silver arrived on
the spot at eleven o'dock precisely, and the preliminary attaching of
the laden cradle was quickly accomplished in their presence: at 11.9 the
small corner engine before noticed was set in motion, and the beat
was seen to glide slowly and almost noiselessly from her position in the
shed on to the platform; when about mid-way out a stoppage of half-
a-minute occurred, but frem what cause did not transpire, at least in
our hearing; the screw was again in moticn till, at 11.16, a change was
required in the adjustment of a large flat-headed kind of staple, some
feet in length, which is apparently the principal medium by which the
attachment of the bottom cf the cradle to the screw is determined;
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by this delay another minute was lost: the engine was once mere set
in motion, and so continued till 11.19, when it was considered that
the boat was clear of the shed, but it proved ctherwise, for, on the
locomotive proceeding a few yards down the traversing rails, it was
found that the Cherokee's bulwarks at the bows were nct free from
the cross-piece of the roof, part of which she would have certainly
carried away had not the engine been premptly stopped. This mishap
necessitated a retrograde movement of the whole mass and another
appliance of the small engine to place her farther on the platform —
the hang-up entailing a loss of six minutes. At 1127 the locomotive
was finally set in moticn, driving its great burthen the distance of
thirty yards in one minute and a quarter: we are unacquainted with
the exact weight thus propelled, but, taken at a rough calculation, we
should suppose it to be very little short of 250 tons. The fixing of
the supplementary rails tc cennect the platform with the indine and
some miner changes expended three minutes and a half; after this the
preparaticns required for the last porticn of the experiment caused a
delay till 1146, at which time the beat was entirely freed from all but
cne cennection with the platform. Sir George Seymour then enquired
if all was prepared, and a quick answer having been returned of “all
ready, 5ir" — after a precautionary admonition to every cne who was
in the vicinity to stand clear from the cradle — the order was given,

at 147, to “go on"; the connection was severed, and at |1.48 the
Cherokee, after gliding down the incline in a most even and majestic
manner, was afloat in her native element. The entire time cccupied

in the whole operation, including all the stoppages, was thirty-eight
minutes and forty seconds.

The whole of these performances, which embraced not less than six
distinct changes of movement, in the course of which a 60 horse-
power gunboat was carried from her shed and launched safely into
the sea — a distance of little less than 300 yards having to be traversed
— was effected without the slightest mishap cther than we have
stated at the shed. There was no hallcing or unnecessary noise; a
simple indication from the hand of the gentleman superintending to
the person in charge of the locemotive was a sufficient order, and,
notwithstanding the extreme weight of the laden platform, it was
driven to within one inch of the spot where it was to finally remain
without a steppage. Exclusive of the delays the launch would have
been performed in a little more than half-an-hour, and, althcugh the
experiment of Wednesday was deemed eminently satisfactory, it is
confidently expected that a similar launch will yet, and that at no very
distant date, be accomplished in the space of from twenty to twenty-
five minutes.

The launch of Wednesday proved beyond question that the recent
deepening and lengthening of the incline for facilitating operations,

as well as to dispense with a very unsafe “jump” which existed in

the line as at first laid, had been most successfully performed. The
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improvements were carried out by Messrs. Smith, the contractors, and
the alterations are regarded by those who witnessed the trial of their
efficiency as skilful accomplishments over great engineering difficulties.*

The Gunboat Sheds

Contemporaneous with the construction of the traverser system was the erection of
the first range of sheds to hcuse the gunboats. An image from 1857 published in the
Mechanics’ Magazine shows eight sheds zalready standing (Figure 4}*> The partiticn on the
rightmost side corresponds to an extant brick wall now along the easternmost side of
the sheds. This image also shows that the south brick wall was not continucus across the
south face of the sheds. The sheds themselves were constructed from wrought and cast
iron, continuing a tradition of larger-scale naval building.

Royal dockyards have been credited with picneering the use of large span metal roofs.*
Edward Hell's No. | Sterehcuse in Pembroke empleys metal trusses spanning 40ft and
Greene's No. 7 Slip roof of 1852 reached 82 ft wide.” In addition to this, Portsmouth
has one cf the first examples of a building constructed entirely of iron: both structure
and cladding® Structural iron in buildings was also employed, in part, as a fireproofing
technology. One of its greatest exponents for use within the dockyards was Edward Holl,
Civil Architect initially working under Bentham and then in his cwn right until his death in
1823. Holl was a strong advocate for the use of structural cast and wrought iren and for
their application to prefabricated buildings. His church at Chatham (1806) is the earliest
example of structural cast iron in a dockyard building.*” Numerous other examples of his
work still survive including the Plymouth ropery, designed with fireproofing principles in
mind.*® The first iron framed roofing structure to appear in the dockyards at Portsmouth
was constructed crca 1810, A metal mill was under construction with a roof design by
Simen Goodrich, Mechanical Engineer to the Admiralty and part of Bentham's team circa
1800. The building was designed to include a steam engine and infrastructure for copper-
smelting and hull remodelling, amongst other things."

Covered slips were first investigated in 1807 by Bentham when he visited the Swedish
naval base at Karlskrona. As a result of this experience, slips in English naval dockyards
began to be covered. The first was prebably built at Portsmouth by 1814, with Chatham
following within the next three years. The technological difficulties of covering such large
expanses were challenging for working with timber. By the 1840s the design of all-metal
structures was possitle, which helped in the design elements of such large expanses. It is
Greene that is credited with finessing the slip roof structure® Each was slightly different
in its construction, although with Green's completed work ‘large-scale metal-framing may
be said to have come of age'® Cnly four sites employed metal-framed slips {Portsmouth,
Chatham, Deptford and Woolwich) before ships began to be constructed mostly from
metal and therefore required less coverage during construction. Portsmouth was the
first to take on metal framing for such structures in 1844. Chatham had a set by 1847-8
and Cclenel Greene designed another group for the Medway set. In concept, the Haslar
Gunboat sheds had a similar premise to covered slips. By the 1850s, covered slips of this
type had not long been the norm in naval construction and were generally ‘designed by
engineering contractors' ™
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Design similarities are present between the gunboat yard sheds (the Tuscan columns and
iron framing) and other structures within the Portsmouth complex such as the Chain
and Cable Testing House.* Although the gunboat sheds cannot technically be considered
a wide-span building, these works elsewhere in the naval system {(which pre-date other
important wide span structures such as Kings Cross and Paddington)* were occurring

at a similar time and demonstrate a cross-fertilisation of construction and technological
ideas in the Navy as a whole.

The use of iren in the Navy wasn't restricted solely to buildings, but alsc extended to
the ships themselves. As ship sizes, forms, and requirements developed with the use of
iron, the infrastructure and buildings needed to accommodate and maintain them was
also modified” The Haslar Gunboat Yard's construction occurred at a point when the
applications of iron technology to fireproofing, large scale roofing and iron hulled boats
were at the forefront of naval technological development. It also occurred at a time
when royal dockyards everywhere were expanding to accommodate a growing Navy
and larger ships.*® The Gunboat Yard was a solution to a particular problem: the storage
and maintenance of a particular type of vessel, which had recently come to the fore of
naval use with the changing face of warfare. Althcugh unique, its construction reflected
emerging practices in British naval building,

With the restructuring of the Navy's administration in the 1830s, external contractors
were more prevalent in the building of Navy infrastructure. Haslar Gunboat Yard was
no exception. The Hampsnire Telegraph and Sussex Chronicle details the companies and
individuals who were involved in the planning and execution of the site:”

The works are of a very considerable magnitude, and no less than

five contractors, each amongst the most eminent in their respective
branches of trade, are engaged upon them. — Thus, the excavaticn of
land and the brickwork is entrusted to Messrs. Rigby, of London; the
iron roofing to Messrs. Grissell, of London; the supply of iron rails for
the lines of railways required to traverse the boats along, to Messrs,
Fox and Henderson; the removal of the mud at the approaches to the
slip in Haslar lake is being done by Messrs. E Smith and Co,; and the
construction of the cradles on which the vessels are to be conveyed
from the water to their berths or resting places, is confided to the well-
known Mr White, jun., of Portsmeuth, who has made himself so very
distinguished in the construction of slip-ways.”

Messrs Fox and Henderson (who also constructed the Crystal Palace) had a history of
supplying slip roofs to the Navy. They were the first company to build such structures,
beginning with twoe slip roofs at Pembroke in 1844, and altogether constructed five
such roofs for the Navy, notable for their cantilevered aisles and corrugated-iren roofs
{including No. 4 slip roof at Woolwich).>' Their work, with similar truss design to that at
Haslar, is alsc evident in the paint shop at the Swinden Railway Woerks of 1847 (Figure
6).52

More prolific, however, were George Baker and Son who erected 11 roofs for the
Navy.”* Messrs Grissell of Londen {ironwork for Covent Garden Opera House and new
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Houses of Farliament) was also awarded another naval contract in addition to Haslar
Gunboat Yard: for Mo, 7 Slip roof Woolwich. This design drew an elements seen at the
Crystal Palace, using H-frame sections rather than curved ribs.3* Little is known of Mr
White of Portsmouth, although reports in the Harmpshire Telegraph and Sussex Times
indicate he was prolific in the Portsmouth naval construction,

The first range of ten sheds, ariginally called slips, may have had skylights in the
corrugated iron roof with lead-covered ridges (Fgure /7). Flans of 12860 indicate a
permanent roof structure was planned for ten sheds, although it is not clear if these were
the original ten sheds that still remain, At this time a wall was also raised (Figure 8). Fabric
evidence on the extant east wall of the shed range is consistent with such modfications.

By 185%, 40 gunboat sheds were present on the site housing 45 gunboats. Despite

the initial positive investment in gunboats, by 1860 they were outdated technology for
current events. Concern for the future of gunboats and the quality of their construction
was being publicly aired:

The Decay and Blazer gunboats were vesterday launched from the
gunboat yard and slipway at Haslar, at high water, and two other
gunboats, the Angler and Fancy, afterwards hauled up and placed
beneath the vacant sheds. The wards hauled up and placed beneath
the vacant sheds. The time occupied in remaoving each boat from its
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Figure 7 Ban for sarlights for mofs over slios 1860 (EHA M0 516452,

Figuse 8 Blan fov perrncnent sogfie fov 10 shos i 1860 [EHA MO $56463)
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shed with its cradle, placing it on the transporting platform, transferring
it on to the launching cradle, thence to the water, and finally returning
the vessel's cradle to the shed whence it was originally taken, was 65
minutes; but this must not be taken as a fair test of the time it would
take to launch any of the boats which might be required for service,

as the two boats in the present instance were already taken off their
blocks and set up on their cradles in readiness for the operation. To
select any one of 47 beats — say, one at either end of the line — would
occupy nearly four hours, instead of cnly 69 minutes as yesterday. The
plan, on the whole, is good; but a small outlay would greatly simplify
the present method of werking, and afford a great saving in time. At
this time there are 47 gunboats, beside mortar vessels, hauled up at
Haslar yard. Twenty-two of these vessels have been repaired at a great
cost, and, with the exception of coppering, are ready for launching.
Nine vessels are under repair. Fourteen are waiting examination and
repairs, five of which are uncoppered, the remainder being coppered.
The remaining two vessels are the Fancy and the Angler, hauled up
yesterday. This yard was formed at the conclusion of the Russian war,
for the storing and preservaticn of the gunboats which had been

built by contract by various private builders during that war. The first
boat was hauled up, we believe, on the Ist of January, 1857 Shortly
afterwards more vessels were added, the beats were stripped of
their copper, and it was supposed that this was the most sensible plan
which could have been taken for their preservation. It was not long,
however, before it was discovered that the vessels required repairs,
and in some instances they were rather extensive. It was at the time
stated that this decay in the vessels arose from the fact of their being
stripped of their copper, and being set up high and dry on the bBlocks,
and thus exposing the planking of their bottoms te the action of the
air-draughts underneath the sheds. This necessitated the employment
of 2 number of shipwrights, &c., under an experienced officer, for their
repairs, which have been carried cn, and, as before stated, 22 vessels
have been rendered fit for service, with the excepticn of coppering.
Late investigations have, however, pointed to ancther source as the
cause of the decay of the vessels. Seme of the coppered gunboats
which had been kept afloat having been hauled up had on examination
been found far more defective than those were which had been stored
beneath the sheds, and the only conclusicn which can be arrived at

is that the whole of our gunboats afloat are totally unfit for service.

Of the nine vessels now under repair not one but bears the marks of
having been constructed with the most reckless disregard to quality
of material. Take twe of them, two of the coppered class, which have
been kept aflcat, as an illustration of what may be expected frem the
40, or thereabouts, which yet remain to be examined at Portsmouth
alone. They stand on their blocks stripped of their planking, and
scarcely a sound piece of wood can be seen about them, every part
bearing the marks of "sap,” and some cf their ribs are ccmpletely
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enveloped with it; the pressure cf the hand upon their frame crumbles
it into dust. The white fungus matter grows over all, and nothing
remains but decay and rottenness. The contract price of these vessels
is said to have amounted to abeut 5000 for each hull alene, and,

if so, the cost of repairing each of the two vessels we have named
must amount to about 3,5001. Taking one of the completed boats

as a medium of the repairs of the boats which have been hauled up
for preservation, it will be found that in her case labour and material
amount to about 4001, The copper bolts, too, in cne of the boats,
which ought to have gone clean through and been clinched on each
side, were found to have been changed into short ends, of about

two inches, driven in on each side. In the midst of all this decay there
are two boats, which have been examined and repaired, which are
declared by the authorities to have been constructed in a creditable
manner tc their builder, both as regards labour and material; but

it is said that the doing so nearly entailed their builder's ruin. They

are named respectively the Earnest and the Escort. One consoling
reflection is left - the machinery of all the boats is believed to be

in good condition. In another part of Haslar yard eight ircn and 12
wooeden mortar boats are in position on blocks underneath temporary
sheds, and it must naturally be expected that the latter will prove to be
as defective as the gunboats have.”

Aside frem the main row of sheds, there was also a smaller range of timber sheds
constructed for the smallest class of gunboats, the so-called torpedo beats. This range
was situated to the west of the slips, closer to the north cf the site and facing the sheds.
The only evidence for these is in the historic record and archaeological potential is low. [t
is possible that the plan for six timber sheds, now in the English Heritage Archive, refers
to this group of sheds (Figure ).

Although the primary focus of the site was on the sheds and the mechanism to move
vessels between them and the water, the site also contained a number of other subsidiary
buildings. Directly behind the sheds were two sets of ancillary buildings. One was a series
of repair werkshops; the other, the engine house complex for Haslar Hospital. The design
for a storehouse from 1859 is perhaps indicative of other storehouses on the site (Figure
|0). Plans are also extant for the Mast House (EHA 95/6504) and a Workmen's Shed.
(EHA 95/6511) The plan of 1904 indicates the use of each of these buildings (Figure 11).

The quality of the craftsmen employed to undertake the work at Haslar Gunboat Yard
and the investment in the site as a2 whole is a reflection of the value placed cn naval
buildings and on the gunboats themselves. This was not a site just for storage, but for
the future success of active naval defence. As it was a highly valued site, with valuable
contents, it is hardly surprising that it was also designed to be very secure. The whole
complex was surrounded by a high brick wall with lookout posts and sentry walks, a
guard house, a police barracks and also contained the home of the Master Shipwright.

This house was positioned in the south-eastern corner of the site. It was originally quite
a grand house and probably erected after the recommendation of a senior officer post
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in July 18573 Photographs taken in 1974 and publehed in Coad 2007 show 2 three
storey brick construction with an entrance porch and detailing simibar to that of the teao
guardhouses,

Aan oundated and unattributed panting, reprodoced n Hickson 2002, records an offical
evant at the Hashr Gunboat Tard. The exact event & unknown, akhough it e possitle
that the ewent depicted & one of the offiecnl trabk o vists by the Moy Board, The image
shovws 15 sheds, Mid-smay along the roese of baysa biick parttion s veible, & anchwy
can just be decerned in the soothern brick wall,

The southemn wall does not exctend across the entire kength of the sheds. The end of the
narthern-most workshop can also be deoerned jutbng partway along the rear opening of
e of the sheds. This sugpests that the rear wall of the sheds was never entirehy bricked
ufp but was abo open to the workshop area at the south of the site. These three featunes
are still visible at the boatyard today and are further evidence that the remaining sheds
belang tor the ariginal phase of building.

Historical Development of the Engine House complex

Alzo to the south of the shed range & an engine-house compks, The amjplex
comiprised two wells, an engine house, [powserad initially by a steam engine but Bber
fitbed foor an ebectric supphe around  1905-8), badler rooim, ecoal stone and chimngy:, The
was all uzed primarily For the Haslar hospital bund qe 3 8 plan of 1856 indicates that most
of these structures wene part of the arginal boilding scheme for the yard, atthoogh linked
tes the hospital laondey. The exoeptions o the ane the oo wells, The first waell [to the
south) dates fram the first aanstruction phase of the Hashr Hospital in the ke 15
century. The seoond, deeper well [to the north) & dated o 15595 Al stroctures wene
present an the 904 map (Figore 1), The enging house was aonnected o the bondry

Fguree 1. Site dgtan froem (504 map [THA ADA 400484
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by an underground tunnel that ako dates 4o the 1850s (Figure [2). The 1909 map shows
by undary walks s parating the aomphes from the rest of the Haske Gunboat vard.

Although prirariy fr the Hospital, s poskibk that the engine hoose phyed a small roke
in et ing the Gunboat Vard. Fiping kading from the Boiler ioom tio the sheds sugpests
that poeensr weas dingcted fimbo the shads, perhaps to powser small machinery in the shad
itself. It & undear f the & primary to the first construction phase.

Construction of the Guard Heuwse and Police Barracks

Flans of 1860 showr tue gatehouses ot the eastern end of the st one o poloz barmcks,
the othera guardhouose. Thase were sitwated flanking the main entrance gateway (Figure
[3). The gatehouses were designad by Secamp and bear a resemblnee to hiswork in
Malta ¥ Plans fram their origingl phage of songtrustion, and subsequent renesations

i the |Bels, sugpest that each structure operate around a courtrand, atthaugh ther
internal Byouts are d ferant. These plans abo indicate that choice of materak for their
ernstroction was canefully prescribed.

The polee barmacks bad accommadation space for an inspactor and three serpeants,
writh & dar ity for comstables, Thane was o central courtyard omto which bathrooms
apenad aut. The southern block was brgeh the sume in pln foem, although ithad a
brger oourtyand (Figune 149, The interars of both buikdings wene madfied cver time
[Figure 15920
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Figure (3. Pan ard ssction of entrnos gateway (EHA A0 95165/ 2)

Figure 14, Design for pofice baracks and guard bouse, (860 [EHA MWD F5/6506
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Fguie 13, Proposal for aftenations to Poloe Badrocks, fote {94 cantune [ERA W00 55065100

Ak oa site containing important vesels the yand was guarded 24 howrs 2 day, The
impartance placed on securty was also the reason for the soraond ing Brickwall and the
positianing of the Master Shiparright's bame in the south-east cornar of the sibe.

The system of marching a strong guard into Fortsmouth Dockyand,
and posting sentres day and night in different parts of the vard, has
been abalshed, and for the fotune the pressnce of the miltan n

the doskyard wallonbe be required during the bours comvet Blbour

5 ampknyed. For the purpose, o meket, comsisting of | captan, |
subaltern, | serpeant, 2 aarparals, and 30 privates, waill be furnshed
frovimy the trowops in garrson, and manch in to the dockyand goand rooim,
weheng they will be held in readiness in the enent of their servioes being
requined. The anly sentres posted wall be ang at the S i - house
and one in front of the main guardioom. The sume regultions wall
Afppply to the gunboat vard and shipaeay at Haslar, These changes ane
consequent upon the new polios arrangsiments !

The wehale aomjles was surnounded by high red brick wall wath goard posts at each
oot narand a parapet for pateolling (Figuee 16; Figune 7). Thes was unosoal in maval
building, akthough other boundary walls n Fortsmauoth ‘inco rpormbed oorbelked ook
eutsand fake fiving loops a5 part of 2 'kwve of military detail'™ Simikue sentry walk-sty ke
bookruts were alse prasent on the internal dividing walls that onee separated the sheds
from the rest of the site.
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Figure 15, Late 194h cerury plan fov @ dividng wal with sentry wall: betwee the sips [EHA
A0 FRESIT ' ’ '

Figure {7, Lote | 4h century plan of #he sentay towers (EHA MO 9516516}
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Fguee (2. Proposed Pee (260 THA MFQ (N 2EE

Gunbzat Shed changes from 1860

In [B&l, plans to add aforther 1 sheds wene proposed | indicating that gonboats weene
still in demand * At the sarme time, the jetty and crane that had been approved in 186G
were arected] at the north-eastern end of the she o amst with repairs and lifting heawy
machinery, without the need to remowe the boats fram the water (Figure 1813

S artide fram The Tames i 1B& 1 further aonfirmes that gonbeats were still being ordered
and construched :

Six e gunboats have been ordered to be boilt onderneath the sheds
at the gunbat ward, Hastar The keelk of tee of them ane already kud,
and a portion of ther frame n posbon. The remaining four weill be lad
devern imimedateh the blocks have been prepaned B them. They wall
e fitted wweith condensing engines of B0-horse powser, and be of an

imir oz farm as aampaned with the chss nowee onder Hashre shads,
and which gained such unenviakle notorety. The folkewing wall b their
principal dimensions: - Length betesen the perpendicolas, 20 feet;
kength of keel for tonnage, 105 feet T D inches; extreme breadth, 22
Fet; breadth for tonnage, 21 et (G nches; breadth, moulded 2] #et
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4 inches; depth in hold, 9 feet 6 inches; burden in tons, 267 82-94.%°

Although these works on site were continuing, there is contemporaneous evidence
to suggest gunboats were no longer the focus of the Navy. During the 1860s, gunboat
technology was being superseded and this, combined with the pocr condition of many of
the gunboats at Haslar, meant that the yard was nc longer in such demand. The Gunboat
Yard's short lifespan may therefore be attributed to changing technologies in naval
warfare. A newspaper report of 860 cutlines the state of the some of the vessels:

On Friday week the Decoy and Blazer were launched from this slip-
way, and accompanied by the description were some detailed remarks
on the state of the remaining vessels in the sheds, which have sounded
notes of dismay throughout England, and called forth earnest demands
for a searching inquiry inte the manner in which the contracts for the
sunboats were fulfilled during the years of 1854, '55, and '56, by the
several builders whe participated in providing them in the emergency
of that period. [t was said in that report that “The copper bolts, in

cne of the boats, which ought tc have gene clean through and been
clinched on each side, were found to have been changed into short
ends, of abeut two inches, driven in on each side.” It appears that the
detection of such a fraud as this is not so easily discoverable as many
would imagine, and opinions are hazarded that where such bolts are
so found they must have been placed by the workmen to satisfy a
perscnal cupidity, and entirely without the cognizance of the masters;
but, of course, this subject must be submitted to the full investigation
of a public inquiry before the contracting party can be discharged from
blame and the onus of responsibility placed to another's account.

'n the course of a visit to the yard on Thursday we noticed one boat

in particular — the easternmost one in the shed — the repairs to which
we understood to have been suspended, as a special enquiry was in
course of being held upon her conditicn. From this beat alone we hear
that 2 number of not less than 100 bolts were taken, averaging from
five to eight inches, whereas they should have been, to allow for the
proper clinching, at least |5 inches long, the result being that, instead
of the bolts having been driven from the cutside plank through the rit
and there clinched, many cculd barely have reached the ribs at all. Frem
cne plank alone not less than five of these short bolts were taken!

The Times says —"“Very quietly do these repairs seem to have been
carried cn, and no complaints of the contractors have been allowed

to become public”; but, albeit the repairs may have been carried on
very quietly, and althcugh the public generally might not have been
aware of the deplorable state of the boeats, we feel assured that official
communications were duly made and searching investigations instituted
for the informaticn of the Lords of the Admiralty, which it is presumed
will now have to be laid publicly before the country. Among the 47
boats we noticed that there are 23 — with the exception of coppering
— ready for launching; their names are the Rose, Rocket, Handy, Hunter,
Gnat, Pheasant, Savage, Parthian, Blossom, Gadfly, Prompt, Primrose,
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Confounder, Garland, Wolf, Camel, Escert, Crocus, Earnest, Pickle,
Garnet, Fenella, and Highlander The coppering of these boats, with
the present strength of the establishment, and in ordinary werk hours,
would probably take from three weeks to a month.

A mere casual cbserver, - perfect novice though he may be in the

art, - visiting the slipway at Haslar, would certainly record his opinion
that in the building of some of these vessels the Admiralty had nct got
their “money’s worth for their money"; and the surprise that should
be naturally felt at the announcement “that ships can be built for very
much less in private yards than they can in her Majesty's Dockyards,”
would be somewhat modified by the remembrance of the spectral-
like figures of some of these four-years-old craft. There is satisfaction,
however, in knowing that we possess a yard where not only can the
repairs be effected, but where boats of a moderate tonnage can also
be built; that in its immediate vicinity there is a splendid area for storing
timber, &c. To make the slipways however thoroughly efficient, a few
improvements are still essentially necessary. We find, for instance,
that, though the launching of the Decoy and Blazer on Friday week
occupied — exclusive of course of the time devoted to “setting up” each
of the beats by hydraulic presses, - only 100 minutes, that it would be
impolitic to reckon on getting a number in the water at that rate; for,
in the first place, there are but very few movable rails (about three or
four sets only) at present in use, so that the launching cf all the boats
in an emergency would entail the engagement of a large bedy of men
in the transportaticn of the irons from one place to another: a distinct
set should be provided for each one. Again, from the shallowness

of the water, but four boats at the utmest, and then with the most
favourable contingencies, could be launched at a tide. To remedy this
there must be a caisson made in the vicinity of Haslar bridge, by which
means the water could be dammed up to suit the requirements of the
service, or a basin sunk at the end of the slipway: with either of these
alterations eight beats could be launched in a day, sc that in a case of
extraordinary demand the 47 cculd, by having relays of men at work
on them day and night, be placed ready for active service in about

72 hours. As far as the machinery and appliances of the slipway are
concerned, we feel convinced that these quite answer the expectations
of their originators and the requirements of the particular service to
which they are devoted; but as launching is really but a secondary
consideration to repairing, and as the expense required to make the
first-named department perfect would be, comparatively, but a mere
“flea-bite,” we wait with some anxiety for further particulars as to the
manner in which this scamping in the building of the boats is to be dealt
with. %
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Newspaper reperts are the best available evidence for the state of the yard and the
sunboats. They indicate that the situation did not improve throughout the decade:

In the Haslar gunboeat yard are 47 gunboeats, one half of which might be
available.®

From the nctices published of late respecting the extra-crdinary
activity displayed in the outfit, commission, and despatch of the first-
class reserve gunboats to the Mersey and elsewhere it might naturally
be presumed that an equal degree of activity existed at the head-
quarter depdt of the gunboeats at Haslar. This is not the case, however.
With the exception of 30 hands specially employed tc complete

the Tyrian, begun, but delivered in an unfinished state by a private
builder, there is nothing doing in the yard and shipway. It would take
a considerable number of hands some length of time tc render the
boats stored under Haslar sheds fit for commission. Many of them
now lying on the blocks with their copper off and an air-strake out of
their planking on each side have lain thus for 18 months, and some still
longer, since they were partially examined and passed as sound boats.
f a judgment may be formed of the probable state of the whcle of
these, from a recent examination of one of their number, it may be
concluded that many of them now are exceedingly faulty. There can
be but little doubt that many cf these vessels, which at the time of
the official examination may have had but a rotten timber or piece of
planking at wide intervals, are now very defective. The line of blocks
on which the boats are stowed are divided by brick partitions into six
equal parts, and the whole covered by zinc ridge and furrow roofing.
The mortar boats stand on the opposite side of the vard, with their
decks merely covered with penthcuse roofing. In the first division

of the gunboat sheds are stowed the Caroline, Pet, Pert, Tiny, Welf,
Crocus, Camel, Skylark, Garland, and Gannet. The seven last named
have each their copper off, with which exception they are supposed
to be complete and sound in their hulls. But it is well known that they
are not. The Pet and the Port have portions of the planking stripped
from their bottom. Cne is in a good state of preservation; the cther
is not. One was built in a public and the other in a private yard. The
remaining beat in the shed is the Caroline, still doing penance for

her faults of construction. In the second divisional shed stands the
Mackerel, fixed like the Carcline. Both vessels should be pulled tc
pieces and their places occupied by craft that may be some day of
use. In addition to the Mackerel is the Flirt, with fore part of keel and
some of her timbers crumbling to dust from dry rot. Her after body
has not yet been sufficiently opened to give a correct idea of its state.
The Cherokee is bare yet to her timbers, which are being completed
slowly for planking. The Bravo is rather more forward, and will scon
commence planking. The Beaver and the Badger have been hauled up,
and still retain their old copper, with an air-strake of planking out, but
no one can say what condition they are in until they have been fairly
opened. The remaining boats here are the Primrose, the Prompt, and
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the Pickle, belonging to the uncoppered class. In the third shed are the
Fervent, the Albacore, the Gnat, the Swan, and the Redbreast, of the
uncoppered class; the Grinder and the Brazen, with their old copper
on; the Beacon, stripped of planking, and making good her timbers; and
the notorious Whiting, at length nearly ccmplete in her new planking.
In the fourth shed stands the Snapper, partially opened, and faulty, as
also may be termed the Pincher; the Peaccck is stripped of planking,
and making good her timbers; the Gadfly, the Rocket, the Midge, the
Charger, the Parthian, the Blossom, and the Confounder belong to the
supposed sound, but uncoppered class. In the 5th division the Thrush
and Ready are partially stripped cf their planking, and in the adjoining
and last division of the sheds are the new class of gunboats now
building by the Government, comprising the Minstrel, Netley, Orwell,
Bruiser, and Cherub, with the majority of their timbers and framing in
position, and the Tyrian, completing, after having been received in an
unfinished state from the hands of the contractor, as already stated.
The mortar boats in the yard consist of 12 built of wood and nine

of iron. Of the condition of the former at present no cne can speak
with confidence until they have been further cpened and examined.
Twelve menths since they were said te be in goed condition. Three-
fourths of the gunboats are of 60-horse power. Of those afloat in the
port are the advanced flotilla, comprising the Rose, Raven, Blazer, and
Highlander. From this class have been recently detached the Amelia
and Escort for service in the Mersey. To supply the places of the
advanced flotilla in the first-class reserve, the following boats are being
hurried forward in the ship and steam basins of the dockyard from the
second-class reserve:- The |asper, 80-horse power, and the Earnest,
Savage, Cracker, Foam, Swinger, and Pheasant, of 60-horse power
each. The remainder of the gunboats in the port reserve consist of the
Fenella and Hunter, of 40-horse power each, and the Chub, Decoy,
Ant, Rambler, Daisy, Angler, and Cheerful, each of 20-horse powen
The gunboat-yard at Haslar at present is a solitude compared with
the chief yard at Portsmouth. In the latter it is one continuocus scene
of energy and bustle. The efforts of the departments are at present
chiefly concentrated upon the gunboats being brought forward for
first class, and the vessels in the ship and steam basins and contiguous
docks, comprising the Black Prince, 40, screw, ordered for completion

by the 30" of April next.. .

Many of the vessels had been constructed quickly and by a number of different builders.
This led to vast differences in the quality of the construction and the life of the vessel.
What had contributed to this, and the current state of the fleet, was widely discussed in
the papers:

Created to meet a sudden emergency in the war waged by England
and France against Russia, the last vessel of our gun and mortar boat
fleets might, in the due course of time, have passed away with and
into those convenient “waters of cblivion” into which individuals
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and peoples are so ever ready to consign their failures, their defeats,
and their disappointments, and their history hitherto been “written

in sand." [t could not be sc, however, under the circumstances cf

their history subsequent to their creation. The paean sung over

the inauguration of this miniature fleet of hornets cannct readily be
forgotten. This flotilla of gun and mortar craft were termed “the beat
legacy of the Russian war, the cnly sclid advantage that remained to us
after all our best experiments. We had not only learnt that a maritime
Power requires other vessels besides line-cof-battle ships, but we had
actually got a strong fleet of these vessels ready built for any future
emergency. There they were all hauled up safe and scund, all paid

for, and fit to be launched at an hour's notice in strength sufficient to
sweep the Channel of an enemy.” But this precious flotilla,- this real
naval reserve - this squadron on which so much money had been
spent, was found rotten and good for nothing, and the boats were
enly fit to brezk up or crumble to dust where they lay. They were not
broken up, and they were delayed at an immense expense in falling
literally to pieces. Two certainly, the Caroline and the Mackerel, were
eventually condemned and taken to pieces, but even now fragments of
their poor rotten skeletons may be met with in obscure corners of the
Haslar Yard, each fragment forming part of a tale of fraudulent copper
bolt fastenings and sappy timbers. Others of the gunboats had as much
as 1,000l and 1,500l each spent upcn them; some, it is said, still more,
and cthers less; but the one professed object aimed at was to render
this rotten and useless fleet available for some purpese. The exposure
of our folly had made us to a certain extent ashamed of ourselves, and
we were glad to hide the cause from sight as quickly as possitle. All
“visible" defects were made good, and each vessel the partial repairs
of which only were thus “made good" at an enormous expense had
her planking carefully caulked, her bottom payed over with an honest
coat of tar and with an “air strake” of planking left out (too near the
top sides to be of any service). The gunboat squadron stood under
their sheds at Haslar, looking, to all cutward sign, bright, sound, and

fit for anything. At this time the fact was the boats were only partially
repaired, English elm had been introduced alongside partially decayed
plank and framing, and the whole closed in, airtight from keel to “air
stroke,” and now all again are rotten.

The recent annual inspecticn of the naval establishments at
Portsmouth is, however, likely to cause the curtain to descend upoen
the last act of the gun and mortar boat comedy. In anticipation of their
Lordships” annual visit to the yard at Haslar 2 report of the condition of
the boats stored under the sheds was prepared, which led to further
investigations being made, and the result is that this toc famous yard at
Haslar is to be degraded from its hitherte maintained position, and to
descend frem its high-sounding title of “gunbeat yard and slipway,” to “a
yard for building and repairing ships' boats and repairing gunboats;” the
latter, we sheould presume, means so long as wooden gunboats are still
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supposed to be of use.

The gunboats now on the blocks under Haslar sheds are 47 in number
{exclusive of six building), and their destiny in the immediate future has
been assigned as follows:-

Condemned to be broken up.-The Tiny, 20-horse power; the
Midge, 20; the Flirt, 20; the Ready, 40; the Pincher, 60; the Swinger,

60; the Thrush, 40; the Badger, 60; the Beaver, 60; the Beacon, 60;
the Traveller, 60; the Savage, 60; the Porpoise, 60; the Pert, 20; the
Grinder, 60; the Brazen, 60; the Bullfinch, 0.

To be surveyed further, for sale or breaking up:- The Wolf,
60-horse power; the Crocus, 60; the Camel, 60; the Garland, 20;
the Garnet, 40; the Primrose, 60; the Prompt, 60; the Pickle, 60; the
Gnat, 20; the Redbreast, 60; the Parthian, 60; the Blossem, 20; the
Confounder, 60; the Gadfly, 20; the Rocket, 60.

For repairs, to be added to, or rathen, to form the reserve:-The
Brave, 60 horse-power; the Peacock, 60; the Cherokee, 60; the Wave,
60; the Swan, 60; the Whiting, 60; the Fenella, 40; the Hunter, 40; the
Skylark, 60.

To be fitted for ceal depéts:-The Pet, 20 horse-power; the
Snapper, 60.

This list only includes the Haslar gunboats, but in addition to these
there are scme |10 cthers of the same class of vessel aflcat in our
home ports and cn foreign stations, all of which must be locked upen
by the lights of cur present experience as possessing a still more
unfavourable average of condition than even those quoted above as in
the “Haslar” list.

With regard to the criginal construction of these vessels, while it is
admitted that the contractors were compelled to turn them out of
hand in a very hurried manner, owing tc the nation's requirements at
the time, and to build pertions of them with unseasoned timber, owing
to the impossibility of obtaining seascned wood, there is at the present
moment a vessel under repair in Haslar Yard which, from having been
criginally constructed with seasoned timber, affords a remarkable
contrast in her condition to the exotic gunboats which have cost the
naticn such immense sums of money, but the days of which we may
now reasonably hope are numbered. The vessel alluded to is simply an
open dockyard lighter daily employed in doing all kinds of rough work.
She was launched 69 years ago, and her original timbers, which now
form her frame below the water line, are as sound and hard as on the
day of her launching.

5o much for the Haslar gunboats, their rotten and fungus-covered
hulls, their short copper bolts, their partial repairs, their subsequent
rot on the blocks high and dry under the sheds, their last survey

and condemnation in the present year of 1863, and the necessarily
proposed significant transformaticn of the designation of Haslar
establishment from a “gunboat yard, sheds, and shipway,” to the more
maodest cne of "beat building and repairing yard.”
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The mortar vessels at Haslar have not attracted the same amount of
public attention, from the fact of their being fewer in number, and,
therefore, more unimportant than the gunboats, and also from their
having been left in a comparatively undisturbed state. There are |9
martar craft now on the blocks at Haslar-nine of ircn and ten of
wooden construction. The iron ones are being converted as they are
wanted intc cpen lighters for dockyard use, and the larger-bodied
wooden craft are being handed over to the Ceastguard as they require
vessels for staticns in the different rivers and creeks arcund the
coasts-the very best purpose to which both classes of vessels can now
be applied, although both would have done good service doubtless
beyond what they effected at Sweaborg, had the war with Russia
fortunately, or unfortunately, lasted a twelvemonth longer.

The Haslar gunboat history will also, like every other part of our

naval administration, illustrate in the most forcible manner our

present system of dockyard “departments.” The head of the “wood”
department is perfectly aware that the hulls of the useless craft

which he is patching up and passing off as sound vessels “to order”

are rotten tc the core, and are but a horrible sham. The head cf the
“metal” department, on the other hand, can know nothing (officially,
and therefore he must be ignorant) of a wooden vessel's hull being
hopelessly rotten, and therefere displays an unwonted degree of
activity in “bringing forward” her engines, not giving, as would be

the case in any private establishment, any thought or care about the
expense, but showing hew smart his department can be in producing
what will never be wanted, for; as with the poor gunboeats, by the time
the metalwork is completed the woodwork is condemned, the hull is
broken up, and the metalwork goes no one cares to inquire where. As
to the future, there is hope, for it is impessible to believe but that with
such indefatigable workers as the present First Lord, the Controller of
the Navy, and the newly-zppeinted Chief Constructor, a new era must
be inaugurated, and the ruinous system which has prevailed for such

a length of time in our national dockyards be superseded at length by
one befitting the large interests at stake and the dignity of the nation.®

The condemnation of the old class of wooden gunboats at Haslar, and
the certainty that iren alone will be used in the construction of this
class of vessel in future, has liberated Haslar yard to a great extent from
the duties it has hitherto performed as an appendage of Portsmouth
dockyard, and raised the all-important question. "What shall we de
with it!" To consider this question it will be necessary here to state the
present extent and positicn of the vard, the amount of plant it contains,
and the advantages it offers while remaining still an adjunct to the yard
at Portsmouth. Haslar yard stands on the south side of a narrow creek
bearing the same name at the entrance to Pertsmouth harbour, and is
2,640t in length and 8l6ft. in width within the boundary walls ; it has
a water frontage throughout its entire length. On the side opposite to
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its water frontage stand a line of galvanized iren covered sheds for 50
gunboats, divided by five brick walls into as many divisions, the entire
length of the shed line being 1.900ft. In front of and parallel with these
sheds are lines of rails exceeding in their collective width the length

of the largest of the gunboeats. Gver these travels the transporting
frame and cradle, propelled by a powerful locomotive engine, which
conveys the gunboat to or frem the launching and hauling up slipway
or the sheds as required. Between this line of sheds and the south
boundary wall of the yard is established the nucleus of an engineering
range of workshops with the necessary forges, lathes, &c., employing
abeut 30 junior naval engineers and 40 stokers, the latter working at
their trades as boiler makers, moulders, coppersmiths, carpenters, &c.,
or fitting the machinery of the gunbeats {which will become available
for the iron boats to be constructed) with condensers, and deing, in
fact, all the work required for the alteraticn and repair of machinery,
except heavy iron castings, which are supplied from the iron foundry
in Pertsmouth dockyard. About a score of shipwrights are employed
on four new wooden gunboats, which have now been building there
some time, and a gang of hands from the steam factery of Portsmouth
dockyard is employed in taking the boilers and engines out of the
condemned gunboats. A few iren and wooden mortar vessels stand
on their blocks in one part of the yard, but, as they can only be lccked
upon as waste material and not as plant, they may be dismissed from
all further consideration. The endlosing wall of the yard is of brick, and
substantially built, as may be imagined, with brick sentry-bexes at the
angles. At the entrance is a spacious guard-house, police-station, and
an official residence, now occupied by an acting master shipwright.
Such is the present extent and position of Haslar gunboat yard and
slipway. The advantages Haslar yard cffers as an adjunct to the main
yard at Portsmouth are many, and are not likely to be set aside even
by the comprehensive scheme for the extension of Portsmouth
dockyard which is about to be carried cut under the direction of Mr.
Scamp, C.E., Deputy-Director of Works to the Admiralty. In the first
place the yard may be appropriated as a boat-building, repairing, and
storing yard, and thus become whelly attached to the department of
the master shipwright; secondly, it may be handed over to the chief
engineer of Portsmouth yard, and become a part of the "factory”
establishment; thirdly, it may be handed cver entirely to the naval
engineers in commission afloat, and thus become the head-quarters of
the steam reserve; and, fourthly, it may remain as it is, attached in part
to all, and a source of continual disputes. It is evident that, as we are
to have iron gunboats, Haslar yard, with all its costly plant of covered
berthing, high and dry, for 50 boats, its transporting lines of rails, and
launching and hauling up slipway, will be retained as their headquarters.
This at once narrows the question as to the retention and future use
of the yard. As a yard for the storage, repair, and building, if necessary,
of iron gunboats, it would come under the management of the steam
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reserve more than any other department, and if the steam reserve

is to be continued as a distinct department of our chief naval port,
then the iron gunboat yard at Haslar appears te offer unusual and
extraordinary advantages as the officially appecinted head-quarters of
the force. We have already said that the nucleus of a naval engineering
establishment exists at Haslar, and there is plenty of space to extend
the workshops cn their present line of ground, so as te afford full
employment for all the naval engineers and stokers on the books of
the reserve in the pert, who would thus have the advantage of being
employed in the shops upon work they might be called upon to do

on an emergency at sea. With the Captain of the Steam Reserve in
residence on the establishment, and the “factory” system of work and
accounts introduced (as now arranged in Her Mzajesty's dockyards, and
than which nothing can well be more efficient), Haslar, as the head-
quarters of the Portsmouth steam reserve, would become a most
important and economical establishment. There is abundance of room
at Haslar to build as well as store 50 gunboeats, whether they were built
by private contract or not, and there is alsc abundance of room-and
this is a most important consideration-for the erection of a building at
the southern extremity of the yard, which would contain the necessary
barrack accommodation for the stokers, quarters for the officers of the
establishment, including the naval engineers cn duty in port, and the
school and lecture reoms, &c., which would form a necessary part of
such an establishment.”

Due to this diminished fleet, the full range of sheds was nc longer required. At some
point in the 1860s, the eastern sheds were relocated, possibly to the main Portsmouth
dockyard. At this same time, the length of the traverser was shortened.” A newspaper
report of the annual inspection of 1867 describes the state of the yard:

From the Royal Sovereign the Beard went on board the boys' training-
ship at St. Vincent, and thence to Haslar, where they went over the
Naval Hospital and the ‘Deserted Village' of the navy — the gunbeat
yard and shipway....

... The gunboat yard and shipway at Haslar, with its 45 covered
building-sheds, and its costly parallel lines of railway and launching
stages, has at present the following number of men employed there:

- Master-Shipwright's Department. — 20 shipwrights, 40 labourers,

2 smiths. Engineers of Steam Reserve Department. -4 engineers, [4
stokers (mechanics), 4 seamen, | warrant-officer. In the yard there are
six wood-built screw gunboats, nine mortar floats (iren), and a number
of ships' beats and remnants of machinery boilers stored away under
cover.

Three of the gunboats — the Wave, the Cherokee, and the
Peacock — are in frame, after rebuilding, and have been in frame seven
years. They are, therefore, well seasoned in all their timbers, and now it
is supposed they will be planked and fitted with their machinery again.
The remaining three it is proposed to convert to coal depot vessels
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to convey fuel te ships at Spithead. They will cost upwards to 3,0001.
each to make them fit for this purpose, but it is the only duty they are
now fit for, and it would be as well to utilize them even in this manner.
Two of the mortar floats have been converted into dockyard lighters;
one has been converted intc a receiving vessel for coastguard duty;
cne for a mud-clearing barge for Cowes harbour off Trinity pier; and
cne for fitting at Malta as a mooring lighter. Four remain at present
unappropriated.

What the Board may eventually decide upon doing with this yard
would be as yet premature to hazard any opinion upon. What it
appears to be suitable for in any adaptaticn of its space and capabilities
generally is 2 general boat-building-yard for the Navy, and especially for
steam launches, the machinery of the latter being fitted and afterwards
kept in repair in the yard by the engineers in the port belenging to the
Steam Reserves. In addition te this kind of work there might alsc be
built at Haslar such small twin-screw gunboats as would be serviceable
for duty between harbours and roadsteads, as Portsmouth harbour
and Spithead, or Hamoaze and Plymouth Sound, and which must
socner or later supersede the present decrepit and expensive small
paddle steamers.

By 1868 at least 12 sheds, and by newspaper accounts (below) as many as 40 sheds had
been transferred to Portsmouth Dockyards. Discussions were taking place over the
future of the vard and 1869 preparaticns were begun to clear the yard ahead of letting it
out in 1870.7

A communication from Whitehall to the Master Shipwright's
department of Portsmeuth dockyard has called for a return of the
shipbuilding or repairing work in hand under the department at the
sunboat-yard, as it is commenly termed, at Haslar, Portsmouth harbeour,
and the time by which zall such work could be completed. The return
made to the Admiralty in answer to this communication gives but some
half a dozen gunboats at Haslar on hand, and the time named for their
completicn is the early part of November. [t may, therefore, be inferred
that after November next the gunboat yard at Haslar will cease to
exist as a separate establishment and as an offshoct of the shipwright
department of Portsmouth dockyard. After that time it will most
probably be permanently attached to the steam reserve at the port as
its shore factery, at which steam launches and cther boats for the navy
can be constructed and fitted with their machinery and put in repair

as they may require it, or as they are returned intc store from service.
The steam reserve of the port already have a valuable working plant
established in Haslar yard, and the use of this plant in the construction
and repair of the steam launches and cutters with their machinery
would not only so far be an economical measure in itself, but would
also afford practical employment for naval engineers nct attached te
ships in commission.™
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The gunboat yard at Haslar, Portsmouth, according to present orders,
will be closed at the end of March next. The yard covers a large
space of ground abutting on the shore of Haslar creek on the west
side of Portsmouth harbour, and was created some years since at a
very great expense for the hauling up, storing under sheds, and the
repair of gunboats, mortar vessles, &c. [t is fitted with a hauling up

slip and cradle, connected with expensively-constructed and very
efficient lines of railway running at right angles with the entire length
of 50 sheds, with their blocks, &c., for the storing of the gunboats. A
powerful locomotive engine draws the boats up the slipway on the
cradle, and to and from the sheds in hauling up or launching, and a
fixed engine working an endless screw takes the boats in or drives
them out from under the sheds as may be required. In addition to this
there is a valuable plant on the ground belonging to the shipwright
and engineering departments, with officers' residences, &c., together
with a large space of spare ground within the walls of the vard, that

is available for extending the present workshops, should it ever be
found necessary to do so. Altogether, the present gunboat yard at
Haslar represents the investment of a very large sum of the public
maeney, and it is well worth the consideration of the First Lord and
Board of Admiralty whether some more profitable use might not

be made of sc much capital. The very cppesite opinions have been
entertained regarding the value of Haslar yard. At this moment the
democlitionists have the upper hand, and the decree has gone forth
that it is to be cfficially closed on the 3lst of March next, and the 50
costly sheds taken down and removed to the dockyard at Portsmouth
to be employed in storing timber. This latter propoesition will at once
be condemned if rightly understood. Te do this it is only necessary to
consider the cost of the pulling down of the 50 sheds, their removal
across the harbour of Portsmouth to the dock, and their re-erection.
There is another consideration. How is it that now, when we have
abandcned the building of ships of war in wood for iron, we suddenly
are told that covered sheds must be provided for the storage of
timber? Supposing, even, for the sake of argument, that the small
quantity of timber which in future will be kept in store at Portsmeuth
dockyard must be kept under cover for its preservation, surely the six
building sheds of encrmous area, which have nothing building under
them but a small gunvessel and a deckyard lighter, will hold meore
timber of all kinds than can ever be required; but, if even these should
be fcund insufficient there is the now vacant and disused ropery, of
some |,700ft. in length, and other old stores, that could be used on
an emergency — a crcumstance, however, that is never likely to occun
We now come to the consideraticn of the present value of Haslar-
yard, with its slipway, lines of railway, sheds, workshops, and plant, in
its abandcned position as a gunboat-yard. This has been discussed on
several previous occasions in The Times, and we only repeat opinions
formerly expressed when we say here that it is admirably adapted
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for a general beat building vard, including steam launches and the
manufacture and repairs of their engines and boilers, for the service
of all of the ships of the Royal Navy. The yard at present contains
everything that is requisite for the purpose, with the single exception
of an extension of the present workshops. If this, or some similar plan,
were carried into effect at Haslar-yard, the petty and extravagant
boat building and repairing establishments at the several dockyards
would necessarily be abolished, and the work in future done in one
establishment and under cne independent system of accounts and
supervision. The manufacture of new engines and boilers and the
repairs of others that have been in use weuld also find remunerative
employment for the engineers and mechanical stokers of the steam
reserves — a matter that has been hitherto, strangely enough, entirely
neglected. In conclusion, it certainly appears that the appropriation of
Haslar-yard as an establishment for the building and repair of all boats
for Her Majesty’s ships, with their machinery, as steam launches or
cutters, would satisfactorily meet many of the requirements contained
in the Admiralty circular letter, dated January, 1869, published in The
Times of yesterday, and more espedcially in the first instance with regard
to the “skilled artizans,” “fully and preperly employed,” “economy in the
use of stores and materials” and a “reduction of useless accounts.”

The clearance of the gunboat yard at Haslar, near Gosport,
preparatory to its being closed as a2 working public establishment at
the close of the present financial year, is being carried out as rapidly
as the labour available will permit, and all the stores and material at
present there are being removed across the harbour to Portsmouth
Dockyard. The three gunboats Brave, Peacock, and Cherckee, which
have been standing in frame for scme considerable time under the
building sheds, are being taken to pieces and transferred across to
Portsmouth Dockyard, where probably their frames will be utilized in
the construction of a more powerful description of vessel. Ten of the
buildings are also being taken down for re-erection in Portsmouth yard
as stores for timber, planking, &c.”®

Although put up for let in 1870, by 1871 the yard was once again being used for its
original purpese and towards the end of the century a larger western range of sheds was
constructed to accommodate larger boats.””

The Haslar gunboat yard, which has for some considerable time been
cleared out and closed, is again to be brought into use for storing
sunboats, crders having been received at Portsmeuth Dockyard te
remove over to Haslar, for hauling up and stering underneath the
sheds there, the iron-built twin-screw gunboats of the Blazer class.
These boats are each of 245 tons, and have a collective engine power
(nominal} of 25 horses. They carry as armament cne [8-ton gun. There
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are |2 of these boats at present on the Navy List, but the two earliest

built are rather smaller than the other ten, and carry each one 12-ton
78

gun.

After the signing of the Peace Treaty by England, Russiz, and France

at the close of the Crimean campaign, it became an impertant
consideration with the Admiralty Board of this country where to store
and preserve the many wooden gunboats which had been built to
Admiralty order by private shipbuilders for spedial service in the Baltic
and Black Seas, but which had cnly been delivered to the Admiralty
autherities when a further prosecution of the war was dispensed with
by mutual consent. A piece of land on the southern borders of Haslar
Creek, a narrow serpentine stream of tidal water on the port hard of
the immediate entrance of Portsmeuth Harbour, was selected, and
here was created a gunboat store-yard, where the vessels could be
hauled up out of the water and placed on blocks of timber, at some
distance above high-water mark, under zinc-covered sheds, where
they could at all times be thoroughly kept under proper inspection

in their hulls and machinery and “preserved” for immediate service
afloat whenever required. The appurtenances of the yard consisted

of an enclosure wall, officers’ residences, guard and police stations,

its 50 covered sheds, steam power in fixed engine and the numercus
workshops, its hauling up slipway, with cradle and lines of rails, for
raising the gunboats cut of the water, the |4 lines of rail running at right
angles with the line of storing sheds, and over which a “platform" is
worked by a powerful locomotive engine for transporting the gunboats
from end to end of the keel to any particular shed. During the time the
woceden-built gunboats remained stored there, Haslar yard assumed an
important position as an adjunct to the principal yard at Portsmouth,
and a very useful addition was made to its capabilities by the growth of
workshops for small engineering work under the contrel of the Steam
Reserve Department of the port, in which a very large amount of work
was done by naval engineers and mechanical stekers. The yard had
certainly cost a large amount of money thus far in its establishment,
but full value was being obtained for work done. Next came a new
and unexpected phase. The gunboats, built necessarily in a great hurry,
and in the majerity of instances of unseascned timber, were found to
be rapidly decaying in their hulls, and the result was simply that many
were repaired as best they could be and then removed from the yard,
while the remainder were broken up, and their machinery afterwards
utilized in the construction of steam launches. The yard now was
deprived of all its former apparent value, and it was then discovered

by some official, of course with the sanction of the Department of

the Admiral Superintendent, that the Haslar Gunboat Yard was now
useless for all present or future public service, and a general wreck

was made of the place, 40 out of its 50 sheds being taken down and
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remeved across the harbour te Portsmouth Dockyard, where they
were “utilized" in various ways according to official notions, the cost of
their pulling down at Haslar, transport across the harbour, and fixing up
again at Portsmouth quite equalling, if not exceeding, the value of the
materials. Haslar yard is now a ruin, and alsc a practical protest against
the want of administrative forethought in the management of public
property intrusted to the care of public paid officials. Where the 40
covered sheds stood is now a chaos of uprooted timber slabs, upon
which the old gunboats stood, sprinkled over with heaps of old ircn
and cther débris, with half-starved cattle and geats in full possession,
endeavouring to browse upon the scanty crop of thistles and tufts

of grass which is graduzlly and slowly taking possession of the shingly
ground. Now, another discovery has been made. We are creating
another fleet of gunboeats, this time of iron, and storeroom is wanted
for them, high and dry as before, where they can be locked after and
properly preserved, and no place is so available, or, indeed, so suitable
for the purpose, as Haslar. Some 24 of these boats have already been
built, and more will follow. There are, as already observed, but ten
sheds left at Haslar, and, therefore, more sheds must be built, and the
yard again, in fact, restored te its criginal condition. The yard in its
eriginal condition would have been suited for the reception and storing
of these new gunboats, which can be stored nowhere else. As it is, the
revivification of the yard has to be accomplished, and the work, in fact,
has been begun in the storing under the ten remaining sheds of some
of our new cdlass of gunboats rejoicing in the old names of Benetta,
Snake, Blazer, Scourge, Bustard, Victor, Bloodhound, Mastiff, Arrow, &c.
They are sharp in their length, broad of beam, draw little water, about
6ft. mean, and are driven by twin screws by 28-horse power (nominal)
engines, and each carries one gun of |8 tons mounted on a “Scott”
carriage and slides. They are the "Wasps" of cur home navy for work
at the mouths of estuaries and rivers and in shallow waters generally,
have cost considerable sums in their production,- and cannot be
neglected by being allowed to lie aflcat and rust their boettom plates in
the tidal water of any harbour. The only refuge for them is the gunboat
yard at Haslar, and the gunbeat yard at Haslar has been, as we have
explained, partially dismantled. Whatever arguments may be advanced
to the contrary, it will now have to be refitted and restored to its old
state of efficiency.

The hauling up of the new class of iron gunboats at Haslar has afforded
an opportunity for an examination of the various preservative and anti-
fouling paints which have been applied to their hulls below the water
line, and this has furnished some most interesting data for our future
suidance. Without going intc any lengthy, and indeed unnecessary,
details relating to the appearance and action of the various
compositions tested, it is only necessary to cbserve here that the
preservative and anti-corrosive paints applied to the bottoms of the
vessels under Dr. Robert Sim's direction have beaten all cthers. With
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hi [rese peative paints, Bad on immedatel nect b the bare inon aof the
vegsz s’ hulks, a perfect protection of the iron has been obtuned, and
thiz & maost conduswely showen at the vabee openings for flooding the
prracdier magazing, whera the ion and ooppar fittings reman close by
cewiened asan the day thay wene first painted wath his presenative
cormpoesition, wheneas, with the dockyand and other compostiong
the painteoating & desaleed and action set up betweeen the inon and
copper With the Ao and Baonetta-the Brmee haoked o at Haslar
vesterday-the & mast dstinethy shosaen, Al the wessels are oked with
grams and zonphyte, from bing in anchoned berths off modbanks in
Fortsmouth harbour for ten manths past, but O Sim's ant-%uoling
paints are very much less ooated with weeds than other paints, and
have noadhesions of mussek ar ather shelfish ™

Aoy af a ithogragh from The Wstroted Lordon Mews of May 4 1570 shows ning sheds
[the castern wall and first bay & oot of peture) with the traverser in the foregeroond
running an ik set below the groond keel of the sheds (Figure 19). From the evdence, it
& clear that the gunboat vard was ance again b2ing vtlsed for it argimal por poss.

I the 1880 news inan gunboat sheds’ wene odered and it s likeh these were

Fgume 1% The Hoslr shec: [Nostmbed Landon Mews, [578)

eonstructed to the west of the airrent range ® These sheds have net survied, During
the decade, further work was conducted an the ste. Dredging of the creel was
reparted in The Trnes and plans sugpest a jetty ectension and reoonstrocton may e
taken phee ancund the saume tire [Frgure 20; Figone 21).

towill b remembered that 3 short time Sinoe sureys were made, plhns
wazie d raern, and estirmates gren of the probable cost of eoecuting
gome important alterabions at Hashor Lake, Gospart, whareby neady
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access would be given for small craft of the Royal Navy to reach or

be launched from the Haslar gunboat yard. The consideration of the
subject was shelved at the time, it being understood that the Admiralty
could not see their way to recommend the expenditure of some
£30,000, which in round numbers was about the sum the new scheme
would have cost. If present reports are to be credited, however, the
future of Haslar Lake and its neighbourhced will be an important one.
Extensive alterations are to be made at Forts Monckton and Gillkicker
for the study of submarine mining, and it is further rumoured that a
small barracks will be built for the Royal Engineers at the rear of these
forts. But these would appear to be cnly cne part of an extensive
scheme for the utilization of a valuable, but hitherto neglected area, for
not only will Haslar Lake be deepened and widened at its eastern end,
but a further communication with the sea will be effected by cutting a
channel from a spot just westward cf the Reyal Military Hospital to the
arm of the lzke flowing at the back.®

The gradual development of the Portsmeuth establishment has
necessitated a steady growth in the sums demanded for new works
and foundations, new machinery, and repairs and maintenance. In
1882-3 the amount asked for was £147,677, of which £69,760 was
granted; in 1883-4 the amount fell to £128,722, the decrease being

in the charge for new works, £85,160 being granted. In the following
year the total of the submissicns rose to £168,088, the increase being
principally in the item “other works"-that is, other than now; while

in 1885-6 the aggregate demands for the yard shot up to £198,501.
This year the submissions from the varicus departments, 81 in

number, reach the almost unprecedented total of £354,605. This sum
includes a large number of derelicts from previous years, and several
charges for the continuation of works already begun. The authcrities
proceed upon the policy of asking for money for the carrying out of

all conceivable improvements, and though the demands are certified
as being "desirable" "very desirable" and "urgent,”" they are perfectly
aware that cnly a comparatively few of them will receive the sanction
of their lordships in the first instance, and of the Treasury in the last
resort. Among the heavier items discussed by their lordships were the
following “urgent” requisitions:- £20,000 for dredging and deepening
the tidal basin and the water con the sea wall and Burrow Bank;

£1,000 for new battery on Whale Island, 500ft. in length, for gunnery
instruction to seamen, in the place of the present flying target range;
£7400 for the erecticn of 10 permanent iron sheds for either gun or
torpedo boats at Haslar, a work rendered imperative by the substantial
increase in the torpedo fleet and the importance of pretecting them
against expesure to the weather®
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Figure . Wiest sty aterations [EHA MO $5/6483)
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Undated plans in the English Heritage archive show details for a series of six torpedo
sheds (see Figure 9). Based on the style of the plans, it is possible that they date from the
time of this request.

In the afterncon the Lords of the Admiralty, leaving the Controller,

Mr. Forwoed, the Director of Dockyards, and Mr. Gordon Miller tc
examine the establishment accounts, crossed over to the Gosport side
of the water, landing from their steam pinnace at the Royal Clarence
Victualling Yard. Postponing the inspecticn of the vard until to-day, they
drove to the barracks of the Royal Marine Light Infantry. After having
been inspected in line, the trocps marched past in various formation.
The buildings and drill batteries were afterwards visited, and at the
conclusion of the inspection the party drove to Haslar Hospital and
adjcining gunboat yard. They were met at the gate by Inspecter-
General Breakey, Deputy Inspectors Davies and Slaughter, and the
medical staff of the hospital. This conduded the work of the first day.®

Late 19" century and 20" century

Despite the focus of gunboats at Haslar, neot all the gunboats with the Royal Navy

were confined te Haslar in the late 1850s and beyond. Many of them were assigned to
overseas bases and they were fundamental symbols of Royal Naval supremacy and British
rule. Their use in patrolling waters, quashing small levels of resistance, and monitcring
piracy meant that they were of great use during the quieter years at the end of the [9"-
century. Their use led to the notion of ‘gunboat diplemacy” and through this they attained
a symbolic role in English glebal dominance being described as ‘a symbol of the power of
the nation, not a concrete embodiment of it'#*

This prevalence was not to last. The changing balance of power towards the end of the
century, due in part to activities in the Suez canal in 1882, meant that Britain no longer
had an overwhelming dominance at sea. Admiral Sir John Fischer was instrumental

in the final demise of the gunboat as an official part of the Royal Navy. He called for

the abclition of all cbsolete warships: ‘sunbeats, and all vessels of like class, have been
gradually losing value except for definite purposes under special conditions. As far as this
country is concerned, the very places consecrated as the spheres of gunboeat activity are
those remcte from the covering aid of large ships...

... since the redistribution of the Fleet the Empire has had to do without the ubiquitous
sunboat, and, if the truth be told, scarcely seems to have missed it.*

The report cf an cofficial visit in 1905 indicates that the yard was then being utilized for a
number of classes of vessels, not only gunboats:

Next the Committee proceeded to the gunboeat yard at Haslar

and viewed the reserve of torpedo-boats there. At the sheds here
there is a large number of horse and troop boats maintained in
readiness for use in any military expedition requiring tc be landed on
hostile territory. At Haslar the Committee were met by Professor
Froude, superintendent of the Admiralty experiment works, and
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wazie ctnducked By him ower the premses, whene all modelks of nea
wariships are tharoughly tested for stabilty and cornectness of form
before the desiprs are phoed in the hands of the mastroctors. Aan
establehmant has recenthy been founded at Hastar fior the instroction
of officers and men in the wse of ol fuelin maring boilkers, and this was
abey wisited by the Comim ttee 5

By 1906 gunboats wene mynsdered obsalete naval technokgy and all had been
serapped or retired due to maintenance costs and the advent of smalker craft that were
e v rsatike closer i bnd | Some gunboats heweever waerg ke pt an at foreign bases,
e weting lecal patioks.

The changing rok of gunboats, and therafone the vard, had implications for the ose and
ot of the Haslar complex, The gl of (P04 shows the ste still asa single entity,
although the interior Bndscaping was madified o indude 2 tenns avort in 1958 and
gardens in 1912 [Figure 22 Figune 23], At some point after 1914 the site was splt into
b sechions. The boundary between the teao sections rons along the eosting eastern
wrall of the remaining sheds and continues to the water line.

Ly
A&

Tt |r|||.-|i-|- Hoat Sheils

| (Tirek

| S

Figuse 22. Detait of 1908 map sowing krns cowt (THA ADA1 14041484)
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Figure 24 Detail of {714 map [THA Wads 4030 0)
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A map of 1914 shows additional buildings to the west and east of the site (Figure 24).
Their purpose/function is unknown.

The Haslar yard continued in its general purpose and was used througheout the First
World War and the Second Werld War to repair coastal craft including motor torpede
boats and motor gunboats, the replacements of gunboats.®” From 1939 to the 1950s, the
eastern part of the gunbeat yard was part of HMS Hornet, the Coastal Forces Patrol. By
1951 further subsidiary buildings were erected within the open space of the yard. These
were partially demolished by the 1980s. The two large corrugated iron sheds in the
centre of the site that are still present today first appear cn a map of 1970.

On the western side of the yard, the 1950s probably saw the building of a new slip,
alongside the original, and the replacement of the Elephant {the criginal traverser engine)
with an electric version in 19522 A series of technical drawings for the electric Flephant
are now housed in the National Maritime Museum.® A brick doubtle height room,
inserted into the seventh bay along from the eastern end of the sheds, probably dates
from this period.

In 1974 HMS Hernet was clesed and with it, the vard went out of use. This is directly
attributable to the construction of the new Haslar Bridge. It was too low and had ne
provision for lifting, thus preventing ships from entering far encugh in to the harbour

to reach the yard?® In this same year the cradles and traverser were scrapped. The
mechanisms associated with the traverser system were possibly removed in 1974 (Figure
25). At some point after this, the Master Shipwright's house was alse demolished. By
1978 the yard was empty and disused and available to treasure-hunters:

Treasure-hunters are officially criticized for the damage they do to
archaeological sites, and an increased awareness of and use of the law
by magistrates to deter them is suggested in a report published last
week.

The courts have not been aware of the harm dene by users of metal
detectors, so "legislation has not worked effectively against treasure
hunters”, the Ancient Monuments Board for England conclude in their
1979 annual repert to Mr Michael Heseltine, the Secretary of State for
the Environment...

Official carelessness is also castigated by the board. Amoeng recent
“disastrous consequences” has been the destruction of the machinery
installed on the Traverser Slip at Haslar gunboat yard, Alverstoke,
Hampshire, which was a scheduled ancient monument.?

The photographic record, partially available in Coad 2007, fills in much informaticn

for changes to the site during the 1980s and 1990s: Some of the eastern sheds were
demolished after 1980; cn 3 November 1993, sheds were still present to the east

and west of the now remaining range; there was no roof or reinforcing present in the
remaining sheds and the traverser rails were still visible in front of the sheds. The sheds
have since been re-roofed and reinforced.

From 2005 the eastern half of the site was used by the Joint Services Adventurers'
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Fiswee 25 Site plan of 1972 (TMA T5 68/20)

sailing Centre, whe still oompes the site today, The remander of the vard, induding the
sheds and maintenane: sheds, hag been under the control of QinetiD) since 2001 The
rerraining structunes and the bnd dinectly in front of them do not ap e bo have been
used o any particular purpose during this time, The site is currenthy in the procsss of
being sokd.
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SITE DESCRIPTION

Hospital

L o
KEY

a Gunboat shed d Boiler house £ 1950s shed i Crane

b Maintenance sheds e Engine house h Police barracks —_— Site boundary
c Laundry f Chimney i Guard house

Figure 26. Site plan

Setting and Landscape

Haslar Gunboat Yard is situated on the northern side of the southern-most spit of land
on the west side of Portsmouth Harbour The site slopes gently downwards from the
south. It is bordered to the north by Haslar Creek and to the south by Haslar Road
and the Haslar Hospital. To the west is the Naval Experimental Werks, now QinetiQ),
and directly to the east is the Haslar bridge. The site is bordered on its east, west and
southern sides by a brick wall with small watch towers and sentry walks. At the time
of construction, it was 2,640 ft x 816ft within the walls** The site is orientated on a
northwest-scutheast alignment. For the purposes of the following description, the site
has been orientated to the main cardinal points.

The gunboat sheds are situated towards the south-west of the site and positicned

roughly parallel to Haslar Creek (Figure 26). Between these sheds and the southern
boundary wall is the engine hcuse complex, along with a series of workshops and varicus
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ancilbary buildings. The main entranee to the ste & n the camtne of the eastern wall.
Flanking the entranoe-say, insde the ste, & the goard house and poloe barmcks. The
Mazster Shipweright’s house onoe oocuped the south-easterhy cormer of the yand . The slips
and traverser wene in the central space of the vard dinectly in front of the sheds though
ik the sheds, they anoe extended further o the east and west, [nthe 1950 teo Brge
cor rugated iron sheds wene inserbed at the approecmate eastern end of the traverser,
T modern jetties, asocabed with the traveser setem and dingethy in front of the
shads, ane in stu akng with 2 srall offshane phtfem wath wanch to the east of the site.

Gunboat Sheds

Materials

The ten remaining gunboat sheds are all from the first phase of onstrocton (Freore
27172 The sheds are constructed of 2 freestanding cast and wrought inon structure with
wriza ther-boanded gables and o oonenete flosr Olegiml iran railks from the haoling up
system are still in sitw, embedded in the concrete shed floon The shed rangs bas ned
brickend walkand a south wall that extends behind the seven eastern-most bays, The
gaventh bay friom the east has o dooble-haight brck boiding insarted into . Bach bay has
a medern oorrogated iron phehed roof and some ako ve plhstic skyelights.

Plan

Sored brickwall separated each group of ten sheds Thewas intended as a fingproofing

gy i

Rguee 27 Gunbaot sheds frarn dhe nocth east [ES'S DPY SIE5Y)
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mezasure and the survving walling & not stroctorall integ mal b the sheds, The extant
e of sheds has retained the orgiml brick walks at ether end, ind cating it & a complete
range of ten sheds.

Hickson's investigations reveaked that the ten remaining bays ane not all the same width,
althaugh there & a pattern to the detribotion of widths: 308, 30Ft, 25t 10f, 257, 304,
04, 30A, J0FL 30, I0R.T This may have been to accommodate particubr boats

ar purposes. It possibl that the [0f bay ferhich essentmlly takes SRt from the bays
o each side) housed 2 mechansm for baoling up the boats. The entire length of the
rermaining shed nonwe is afp proeecirmatebe 1.5m (3004 in kength and 38m [125H4) deep.

Exterior

The aaxteriar of the sastern wall has seven recemed panzls and closers on the northarm-
faoe. Changes in fabric from Flemish to stretcher bond ) indicate hasing in the wall. kis
prosible this may relate tooa e absent stroctune, Four Blocked opanings (e asind o
and two doorg) are ako vkl i the souther-most pansl & a blocked anchway (Figure
28]

The southemn-most door appears to be arginal The northern door and windows appear
to b Bater insertions, The southern wall comprises sections of brickeork with diferent
beondds and o numbaer of straght [mints ane akoveible. The indicates that the wall was pot
constrocted inone phase, but has baen abened and added o since arginally constrocted .
It & likeh that a significant proportion does date from the 1850 hoeaeever, Ciriginally it

:‘:L_F-"?:"h-_' .. - L 'q_' 5
hgue 28 Gunboot sheds fom the ez [EHA DP 6540

K EMCLEH HERMMGE 51 G-iH




ey hawe rapresented o baundary wall, divding the gunboat sheds friom the engine-
house coimipkx. Subsequent altermtions appear to have extended the wall westwands and
up intes the gable ends of the sheds. The wall has 3 workshop abotting t at the western
end. East of thie building, ap prosimate by half way along the wall, ties and 2 mised floor
bzl incdizate that a further structure was onoe present. The south wall does not exctend
acroes the entine kngth of the sheds, but ends at the workshop at the sevanth bay from
the east W hare the south wall & prasznt, the brick waork comtinues op into the gable to
foriv the root-ling, Whene the oocors, thenre s an addibional brickedging at the roof-line.

The top section of the part of the wall has been added s indicated by a changs in the
beond. This gy date o a re-roofing of the sheds (Frrone 29). Where the near wall &
absent, timber gables are prasent. These are probable bter replozimants.

The weestern wall & unbroken by doors ar windows and has the same remsmed panel
pattern as the east wall The north face of each bay has o timber ga bk with 2 slight
camiter b the lower adpes (Frone 309

Interior

The interior of the sastern wall has a bricked op dooresy and teo brcked up windows
cor respanding o those seen ectarmlb. The stone casings for these ane still veibk albng
writh the thres steps up o the northern dooe [Figure 31

The southerm and western walls hve resmed paneks at regobar intervals The southern

Figure 29 Brick: gabde an soult woll of sheds (8 Engiah Hertage)
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Riguie 3. Gunboct sheds ibemos frorn sooth west [ERA OPH S 348)
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wrall has a blocked arch opening at the near of the secth bay from the east. Along the rear
wiall & a brge pipe, possibhe a steam pipe used e softening wood (Figure 32).

Funning acrces the top of the pangks g2 @ipe that rors the length of the soothern and
eastern walls, ts purpose & unknoween, atthough it may be part of 2 secondary sestem
souncing oesr that relates o the piping that kads from the baiker roam into the sheds.

The insarted brck boiding in the sewenth bay from the east has o dooble-wadth door at
the front entrance and 8 stair to the upper level at the rear (Frigure 33). The soothern
gaction of the inserted modern brickstroctone iz of pake Brick. The narth saotion & ina
darker red brck ndicating 2 bber extension o the strocture, The windowss of the oweer
kv | wach have a brpe concrate imel These are absent in the upper level (Figume 34).

The floor of each bay, exoept for the murrow bay, has s miks lad n the concrete,
ariginalky for the crad ks to haol the ships in and oot of the sheds (Figune 35). The central
space of the sheds & interropted by the stroctoral columins [Figune 36). The lack of mils
i the narrowes central bay, appears to aonfinm Hicksont suggestion that the bay sered 2
different purpose and was not used for boat storage.

Each by has seven argingl columins spread at regolar intervals from the front o the near
of the shed. There ane three cast iron column varations present in the extant structure ®
The central coknnade, which flanks the narrownest, central bay, & ined by cast iren
Tussan coluimins which appear to taper s they ree (Frure 37).

Figume 42 Ete-:nmprpe fow mﬁemﬂg wrid] [EHA DP.'E-.'EEE;-
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Fguree 35, e of gunbodt seds fiomn sout, stowmg the stoi ta the upper soeye of the
maarted biicks hwildmg [BERA OPY &1352)

Fguee 24 e of gunboct sieds showmg the wes alaation of fie meecbed birds bunldmg
[EMA D& a5E)
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hguee 23, Guoboot shed mharae fiern noctly wezst, showrng the thvae sots of imnls preseid m the
standard boys [EHA DR G544

Fguee 26 Gunboot shed e fiorn soutt stosmg the megulod ooloemnn shacng firooghout
the mhenoe (BESA OP &1335)
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Figuee 27 Indemar oo bay with) flonking Tuscon colurnne [EHA DA 6 545)

The caluiming akong the north of the shed are cast in beo peces and ined 2 pEroecmate by
tum-thirds of the way up the column (Frgure 38). Both these types of alumng appear o
b healloar, The remaining aolurmees ane all of the cross- beam varety and ane cast in tao
sections.

The roef trusses, probably of weooght ion, are bolted o the supporting columns, Thene
£ some evidence to suppart the idea that many of the components weare prefabrcated.
Dlecorative spand rels are also prasent in the roof strocture (Figure 39). The spandiel
detail in the roof &aks present in the chain and cable store at Fortsmaooth (1547 and
at Chatham Dockyard in the Mo | Smithery Complexc® The i meark for both thess
buoildings was abo complted by Gressll

Later supparting iron cabling and cross braces have been added o kead support o the
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hgue 28, Colurrme of froct of gunboat shed s m beo peces ond pomed togetbes Ordmasye
crnEs-sechioried coluni ang wihile hebmd fiese [EHS O SIE5E)

structure, These e been added since 1993, Circubur tensoners ane used albng the
kngth of each bay and circobr cross bracing & present in the narrowest bay, which & now
inmoressible and filked wath bracing [See Figure 37). Additionally, e interior cross- beam
eolumn has a feang wath sec iron spars that jon to the roof trumses.

Trawverser and rails

The raiks of the traverser sysbem are no anger vsibke, alkthough the flat excpanse of Bnd in
fronnt of the sheds whare they wene situated & still intact and evidenos may survive bl
graund, mcluding the re-used ships' timbers used a5 skeepers, The shp raik and berthing
raiks in the sheds ane still vieible [Figone 40

The traverser and stemm boomotwe that posened it are no longer extant. Changes in
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Figuie 40, Bants wable moshaed mtemos [ERA DA 61350 )
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Figure 41. Slipways to the north of the sheds (EHA DPI61540)

topography to the eastern and western ends of the original traverser system suggest that
the traverser rails at either end have been removed. Slip rails, inlaid in concrete, are still
visible leading from the water line up to where the edge of the traverser system would
have been (Figure 41).

Engine House, Boiler House, Chimney and former Well Houses

Materials

The buildings in this complex are all constructed of red brick, laid mostly in Flemish
bond with corrugated iron roofing. The engine house has a wrought iron roof structure
with skylights on the northern side of the pitched reof. Other reof structures were not
examined in detail. The courtyard between these buildings is concreted and, where
inspected, internal floors were also of concrete.

Plan

As is typical of steam powered systems, Haslar had an engine house, boiler house and
chimney” A plan of 1856 shows the internal division of spaces (Fisure 42).

In addition to these structures, still extant, an additional well house now abuts the
eastern end of the engine house. This still contains a well with 2 pumping mechanism.
The engine house, boiler house and storage rooms all form a single building. As is
characteristic of such complexes, the chimney rises next to the boiler house. The 1854
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Fgure 42, Pl of {856 suowmig the fayout of the ervgne bouse, boilsr bause, otvrmeyr and weil
biause [EHA WO F527 %6

plan endence sugpests that the western part of this boilding may have pre-dated the
develaprant of the engine-compEle: [s2e hstory section abowe]. Howeeear, the interior of
the part of the building was not inspacted

At the western and of the comphk, 2 wall runs from the end of the enging house m@nge
teo the backof the gunboat sheds. & simikr wall, the extennon of the gastern wall of
the sheds, extends all the way to the wall alongside Hashr Foad . These teso d vsiom

g A rate this section of the yard from the rest of the Gunboat Yard. The reflects ts
gaparate funchion as an enging house oom plea for the Haskbre Hospital, There s 2 large
deubk wooden gate kading from the secton of yard out onto Haslar Boad nesxt to the
easte rn wall

Exterior

The part of the yard s reached through 2 brge wooden dooble gatewsay that opzng anto
Hasbar Fioad.

Tor the west of the entrancg is the enging house mange. The enging houze &2 tall single-
stovney range with & brick parapet. Aowell house, accessed from nside the engine hoose,
hag been added to its eastern @nd. The main entrnce to the enging house, 2 large arch-
topped door, & an the nothern face. To the west of the doorane three full heght arch-
topped windows, They have brick anches and lintek similar o the door. A Brick string
oourse rure the kength of the buiding abowve the haight of these windews, indicating the
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Fgune 45,
Biloctaad apenmg w1 He et wall of Hie borler fouss, with $he g meerhed von Dife connmg
s Hae devoiion o e beiaht of fe windaw aicties (@ Erglish Hentage)

beginning of the pamapet. The more decorative treatment of the windows and door &
nest unogual of post- 1825 @nging hooses,

At the western end of the enging houwse & a small concnete phtform reached by tao
gt p which barders the enging range. At the western end of the phtform is the eastern
wrall of the boiker bouse with evidenoe of 2 now blocked doar (Frigune 43). To the narth
af this platfarm & the chimney stack The chimney & 8 featune of the skyline. It & 2 square
stack with brick detailing towards the top, This by pe of detail and shape was typical of
ind st ] stacks i the mid-19% cemtury.

Inthe gap between the baiker howse and the chimney 59 bege inon pipe at windoa
herght. k rurs froim the back of the baiker house, around the frant of the boiding and
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Figuie 44, Moeth eleagtion of the boiler fo s, showmig dhe bae window ahenngs

then turns parth, running throogh the back of the guntoat shed mnge. iz poosible that
the joins with the piping an the nsde of the shed and was used o work the small steam
posezinad machingry inside the shed, ts date & unknewn, but t s ckardy not 2 primary
feature.

At i byl in other industrial boildings, the boiker bouse was not the subyect of any
archibectural emphass® At its eastern end, on the narthern face, there ane twa small
arch-topped windows [Fizune 44, Mext o the ten small windowes iz a tall squane double
doar which has bean inserted i plos of an arginal thind sandees (Figure 45). The anch
topr of the window survives, slighthe troncated | abowve dooresy. Bonning along ts top and
extending to the west £ an inserbed hemar onenete lintel that inter rupts the base of the
brick anch detail above. The brcksork n the section has been abered as the eastern
side of the brick anch has been sheed away and replaced with brickao k.

A modern well house, probably in phoe of an earber well hoose shown on the 1854 @,
abuts the north-west end of the ooal store and has @ mano-prch oo (Figure 4E8).

Cin the western sde of the added woell house ane bero blocked openings: a bulk-gee
weindeover and be o it a smaller opening with an arched top, These oo looked into the
hearse wheal houseforal starage roam. The western wall of the complkx axctends north
teo the near of the gunboat sheds, segregating the seoton of ward
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Fgure 45, Moeth elantion of the boder bouse showmg Hhe reecded doarvoy (@ English
Heart b ghesh

The section of the yard opposte the engine house and against the south wall of the
shed s was tiked and enclosed . Although the strocture & nolonger present, there nemaing
tiling cin the ground that designates its footprint. Thes may nebe to the aoomuolator
rocaim that appencs on the 1906 @lhan.

At the eastern end of the section of yard & the boundary wall tothe nest of the ward.
The wall & of red brckand has an opper ral and pilasters. Thare are twe wooden doors
set into the walland above these a series of jost holkes indicating the position of a farmer
I n-be buikd ing wehich ran along this sde of the ward.
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Fguee 46, Adodam woal! hause, bt on He ste of an ediee wal o wiich piobabl piee-
clekes the [B54 corstroction of Hhe engine fouse aornple: 1B English Hertoge)

Interior

The interior of the enging howse & now empty, [t s an ron framed oziling and northern
shkylights [Figure 47). Abang the northern wallare thrae larpe iron framed windoes. In
the north-western corner & a blocked dooreay lading to the boilker roam. | hasa
conenete floor which sa bter replaement.

The sivall well howse east of the enging house has the ramnants of awnellaeith polley
gysterm (Frgure 48). This raom is reached throogh 2 door in the enging bouse with a
Blocked fanlight and Brickarch. The door ks closers an aither side.

The enging house hasan apening on the southem e of the floor with 2 star leading
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Figwer 47 Interar of e engne hause fookmg wezst, shoarng the blocted dooeawny b the boila
Bouse @ Engly Hertage)

devem b the tunnel that roms belows Hashre noad and aonnacts the enging howse with the
Haslar bund ry (Figure 49). T his reflects o bter change o the original arrangzimant, which
had a kngae inchne ronning to the tunnel. The ootpent of the building and ek of engine
infrastructure in the stroctural components of the buildings sugpests that it housed a
hoareontal rather than vertical @nging.

The boiker rooim retains 2 set of four Lancashire boiers along s eastern wall,
harmctersed by their brpe barrek and feed ing chutes for ooal (Fizune 500, These are
baber [ by 208 century neplacements for the ariginal boilleis that sat at 90 depiees to
the current arrangement. T he boilers have 2 seoondary hopper system inserted against
their principal faces, The hasa phbe indicating that they weene boilt by James Hodgkinson
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Fgwe 48 Feevior of well Bouse o the east of the ergine bouse dimmig wineh rnechicrian &
Erngiaty Mg

[Safford] Ltd. The patent number g 28031, Although this patent has not besn traced
James Hodg kinson waas o fivm sl knesm #&r prodoecing aotomatie steker sestems from
the bt [9% ceimtuiy and well ok the 200 centory. The ecact date of this system & net

knceaen.

Adang the western wall ane the remmnts of the electrical system, including fuse bomas
and gauges (Figura S1). Iran nacfing in the bailer house was @probably intended to prevent
wrl ping weith the haat and was ako o fingprocting measune.

The newer well house has the argiral inon infrastroctune for drawing water, athough ame
wrzll has baen in filled [Figure 528 Thene & alse an arch-topeed setback in the soothern

weall.
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Mairtenance Sheds

Thize arginal mantenance sheds survive, along with o bter office and the concrete bed
of anather maintenance rehted stroctune along the south wall of the vard. The interors
of the Buildings were not inspacted.

Abutting the south-gastern corner of the boiler room amiplex s a singke-storey boikding
writh porch. It e constrocbed of red brick in Flemesh bond with dosers around the
wrindlorers and doors, The mono-pitch moof of the stroctune & oorrogated ion. There &
o wind onr in the north eastern cormear with 2 door dinecth next to it to the south. An
awrning in aarrogated o has been erected over the dodr to farm a porch.

The three arginal maintenance sheds are in red brick wiath Flemish bond and all abot the
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Fgwe 51, Fusshomes on the west woll of the bedae h-:nuse (EHA DR G565
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Figure 52 Irsedmor of rebuilt well Bouse showing pac of winet rnecharvan 8 Englis Hedage)

remr of the gunboat sheds. They date friom the arginal 1850 phase of construction. The
easternmost buiking hasa brick parapet on s southam end wath roond el detail peked
aut in brick [Frgune 53], The roof & of slate tile wath 2 skylight in the north-eastern oo nar
orf the roef. Thene & a small exchavst pipe protroding friom the roof be ke the skylight.

The ather build ings e paralkl to the gunboat sheds. They are both in red brick of
Flemieh band. Their roofsane corrogated iron with timbae wentibbion stroctunes an the
roaf, There & 2 skylight on the south-eastern end of the eastern most shad.

The plan of 1904 gres ane footprint to the three boidings and Bbek them as fitting

shop' [see Figure 1), It seeme likeb that they relate to separate skiled proossses reguired
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Figuee 53, South elantion of the ecstem mairenaoe shed (& English Hertage)
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Fguee 54, Sowtbeast covmet of the baundane wal, with sendeye bovse [BEHE OP &573)
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in the maintenance and refitting of the gunboats.

Boundary Yvalls

The site & bounded by a red brick wall of Flemsh bond with guard houses and small
sentiy walks at intervals around the perimeter (Figune 594). The sentry houses have inan
recafs e ned i shte and smallwindosss an the ground and upper floors, 1t was not
possile toexaming the interors of thess stroctures.

The main boundary wall & bioken along s eashern front by the main @ntrancg e,

a large double gate. The main gate has two pedimented posts on ethar side of the
entrance way with dietaiks in stong. There & ong small sht wandow with stoneg lintel and
sillon the eastern face of each pest [Fgure 55).

Guard House and Police Barracks

Cinepthar sl of the main gate, nside the wand, ang baro single sboray ned brick

structunes dating from 1857 The south building wasa poloz barracks and the narth
Building 2 guard house [Frore 56 and 57). They appear from the outside viear o be
rario imapes of each ather Their mast striking featore & their aolksnnaded axctevior
picked out weith whibe stone detailing. The top of their hipped, oo ugated-iron noofs
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Fgwe 56, Farmer police badmcdks to dhe zoudh of e mam endance (BEHA DR ESS5%Y)
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are visible behind a brick parapet. Chimney stacks are also visible along the rocf line,
indicating that the buildings were heated and in keeping with their function as places of
residence. Windows around both structures have segmental-arch brick heads and stone
sills

Six of the colennade archways on the northern block have been infilled with brick and
small windows as part of a later modificaticn.

Both structures are currently in a poor condition and have been fenced off from access,
preventing any investigation of their interiors. Their original internal plans are both based
on a courtyard plan with a central open space surrcunded by individual rooms for
varicus purposes from accommodation to lavatories. However, they are likely to have
been subject to alterations.

Jetties

Two wooden jetties leading cut from the slipway are still in situ, although these are
modern replacements of the original structures. In addition to these two principal jetties,
a third wooden jetty to the east has also partly survived as an isolated section of timber
sitting in the creek (Figure 73). This jetty does not appear to have extended as far out
intc the Creek as the other two. The original crane for the repair and maintenance of
boats is still present at what was once the end of the platform of this jetty.

Sheds

The two modern corrugated iron sheds constructed in the middle of the site in the mid-
20"-century are still present on site and are used for the storage and repair of modern
sailing vessels. The structures have a single internal space and are double height with
two rows of windows. It was not possible to investigate the interior of the building but
external indications suggest it has a concrete floor These light-weight structures appear
to have been built for the storage of small beats.
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Sertion of tirnber jethe with crane [EHA DPEI57T)
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CONCLUSION

A high preportion of the buildings and other features from the original phase of
construction remain. The engine house and boiler complex, dating from circa 1854
retains much of its original plan form and detailing, and contains some early machinery,
probably dating to late 19% and early 20"-century changes to the site. The remaining
gunboeat sheds date from the criginal phase of construction in 1856; although they now
have replacement roof coverings the original frames remain in place. Some areas of
associated walling alsc appear to relate to this 1850s phase. The slipways and three of
the maintenance sheds appear to be contemporary with the first phase of the gunboat
sheds. The guardhouse, police barracks, and boundary walls date from circa. 1857, The
eastern jetty of |86l is original and retains its crane. The twe westerly jetties are both
later replacements of original structures.

In additicn te the surviving buildings it is likely that below-ground evidence of further
structures and features may survive, this includes the Master Shipwright's House
demolished in 1974 and the traverser system, including ships' timbers used for the
sleepers.

The Haslar Gunboat Yard is a unique site in the history of naval development. Its
construction was timed alongside developments in iron framing and prefabricated
iron technology and its traverser system using steam power from the outset was
a reveluticnary approach to sclving a unique problem that utilised the foremest
technologies of the day.

The site was developed as a response to a specific naval technology and as such, fell inte

disuse when this use was nc longer required. Nevertheless, it was able to be moedified
with little trouble and thus serve the Navy and private users until the present day.
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SIGNIFICANCE

The Haslar gunboat yard is situated within the wider naval settlement of the area and
is an important site within the naval presence at Gesport and Portsmouth. There

is no parallel example in any other Royal Navy base.” Gunboat sheds were built

in Copenhagen in the early 19"-century. These, however, do not employ a slip and
traverser system, and were for an earlier, different form of gunboat.

The gun beat sheds are a rare example of an establishment constructed as a direct
consequence of the Crimean War. One of the few cther buildings erected in
response to the war were the innovative steam-powered gunpowder mills at the Royal
Gunpowder Factory, Waltham Abbey, Essex.'®® Both sites mark the beginning of 2
massive defence building campaign that characterised the end of the 9% century.

Sheerness also has a storehcuse for small boats designed by Scamp and Greene. This
construction, although also employing wrought and corrugated iron, was of a different
plan to Haslar, since it had three levels on which small beats could be placed. There was
also no traverser system in place in Sheerness.
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ENGLISH HERITAGE RESEARCH DEPARTMENT

English Heritage undertakes and commissions research into the historic
environment, and the issues that affect its condition and survival, in order to
provide the understanding necessary for informed policy and decision making,
for sustainable management, and to promote the widest access, appreciation
and enjoyment of our heritage.

The Research Department provides English Heritage with this capacity

in the fields of buildings history, archaeology, and landscape history. It brings
together seven teams with complementary investigative and analytical skills
to provide integrated research expertise across the range of the historic
environment. These are:

* Aerial Survey and Investigation

* Archaeological Projects (excavation)

* Archaeological Science

* Archaeological Survey and Investigation (landscape analysis)
* Architectural Investigation

* Imaging, Graphics and Survey (including measured and
metric survey, and photography)

* Survey of London

The Research Department undertakes a wide range of investigative and
analytical projects, and provides qudlity assurance and management support
for externally-commissioned research. We aim for innovative work of the
highest quality which will set agendas and standards for the historic
environment sector. In support of this, and to build capacity and promote best
practice in the sector, we also publish guidance and provide advice and training.
We support outreach and education activities and build these in to our projects
and programmes wherever possible.

We make the results of our work available through the Research Department
Report Series, and through journal publications and monographs. Our
publication Research News, which appears three times a year, aims to keep
our partners within and outside English Heritage up-to-date with our projects
and activities. A full list of Research Department Reports, with abstracts and
information on how to obtain copies, may be found on www.english-heritage.
org.uk/researchreports

For further information visit www.english-heritage.org.uk
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